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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Good afternoon.

          3  I'm Council Member Bill Perkins and this is the

          4  Governmental Operations Committee.  We will begin

          5  our hearing shortly.  I would like to ask the

          6  Sergeant- At- Arms to be good enough to go to the

          7  Red Room and inform the witnesses and others that we

          8  are in the process of starting the hearing.  While

          9  we are waiting for folks to come up from downstairs,

         10  let me just mention a few things for those of you

         11  who are here now, something that I will repeat at

         12  least one more time.

         13                 We are having a hearing on several

         14  resolutions that have been presented to the City

         15  Council, three of them authored by Councilman

         16  Charles Barron, and one authored, the fourth one

         17  authored by Councilwoman Helen Foster.

         18  Coincidently, the budget negotiations are going on

         19  at the same time.  Normally, these budget

         20  negotiations would have concluded in the first week

         21  of June.  But due to differences between the Council

         22  and the Mayor, the negotiations have fortunately

         23  taken a little longer, and as a result we believe

         24  that we will be able to do much better by the people

         25  of the City of New York.  So today, we are more or
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          2  less at the last leg of those negotiations, and as

          3  you see, we are set up to have a Stated meeting, at

          4  which point we will be voting, 51 members will be

          5  sitting in those seats to vote on some legislation

          6  that relates to the budget.  That legislation has

          7  not yet come down from Albany, and so our meeting

          8  was scheduled to start at 2:00, and actually the

          9  vote should have taken place around 12:00.  So

         10  everything is pretty delayed and we are kind of

         11  doing it in the tradition of jazz, that is to say we

         12  are improvising.  But we are going to make music in

         13  any case.  Do you understand what I am saying?

         14                 So as we are gathering to begin, I

         15  want to thank the staff and the Sergeant- At- Arms

         16  and other members of the staff for accommodating us

         17  this afternoon.

         18                 Good afternoon.  I am Council Member

         19  Bill Perkins, Deputy Majority Leader of the New York

         20  City Council, and this is the Governmental

         21  Operations Committee, and we are here to have a

         22  hearing on some resolutions, four that have been

         23  presented to this Committee for consideration.  I

         24  want to welcome everyone, this is a hearing before

         25  the Council's Committee on Governmental Operations.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            7

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 We will hear testimony today on the

          3  matter of Reparations.  Several resolutions are

          4  before us, the first, as you may see from the

          5  PowerPoint, I know it is a little small, but the

          6  first resolution calls for the establishment of a

          7  City- funded Commission to study the basis and

          8  justification for Reparations to Descendants of

          9  those who were held in slavery in this City.

         10                 The second one calls for a

         11  Reparations Awareness Day.

         12                 The third calls upon the Council to

         13  support a class action suit brought here in the City

         14  against corporations that have profited from slavery

         15  and the slave trade.

         16                 A fourth resolution calls for

         17  Congress to have fact finding hearings on the basis

         18  and justifications for the United States government

         19  to pay reparations.

         20                 Finally, there are two more

         21  resolutions that will soon be introduced to the

         22  Council, which support proposed legislation of

         23  reparations that are before the New York State

         24  Legislature.

         25                 Now looking back for a moment, the
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          2  Emancipation Proclamation was issued before the end

          3  of the Civil War.  It declared the slaves of the

          4  Confederate States free in 1863.  It was not until

          5  two and one- half years later, on this day, June

          6  19th, in 1865 that the slaves in Texas were informed

          7  of their freedom.  In actuality, the Emancipation

          8  freed very few slaves, rather it was the 13th

          9  Amendment of the Constitution that mandated this

         10  freedom in 1865.

         11                 The original promise of 40 acres and

         12  a mule as compensation and relief to former slaves

         13  never truly manifested. Our city and country are now

         14  left to wonder, what if the original promise of

         15  reparations was kept?  What might racial relations

         16  and the quality of life for Black America be like

         17  today?

         18                 The Committee's purpose is to collect

         19  information on what can be done now in this City

         20  towards making amends.  At this time, let me also

         21  acknowledge that on August 17th, is Reparations

         22  Awareness Day, and there will be a major

         23  mobilization to Washington, D.C. To which all are

         24  invited.

         25                 At this time, let me introduce
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          2  Council Member Charles Barron, Chair of the Higher

          3  Education Committee and prime sponsor of many of the

          4  resolutions before us.  He would like to make a

          5  statement.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Thank you,

          7  Council Member Perkins and New York City, America is

          8  truly indebted to you for having the courage and

          9  fortitude to hold these hearings.  This is, indeed,

         10  an historical moment in the history of this state

         11  and this country.  I believe your opening statement

         12  has really outlined and gave us the road map to the

         13  traveling we need to do today on this most

         14  preciously, precious issue.

         15                 I just want to say very simply that

         16  we are simply saying today that a Commission should

         17  be set up, that we should have a Commission to

         18  explore this.  No one should be against exploring it

         19  and determining what should happen.  We say a crime

         20  has been committed.  We thank the December 12th

         21  Movement for going to South Africa, and Roger

         22  Wareham and Viola Plummer, and leading us and making

         23  sure that the Trans- Atlantic Slave Trade is

         24  considered a crime against humanity.  That enabled

         25  lawsuits to go forward, because now slavery is
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          2  retroactively illegal in addition to being immoral.

          3                 But I would just like to end here so

          4  we can begin our hearings.  And I have a letter that

          5  I would like to read from an enslaved African who

          6  freed himself in 1865.  And his former slave master

          7  or former European enslaver, decided that it would

          8  be a good idea for him to come back and work for him

          9  again.  So I would just like to read this letter

         10  from Jordan Anderson, this was written in 1865.

         11                  "Sir,

         12                 I got your letter and was glad to

         13  find that you had not forgotten Jordan, and that you

         14  wanted me to come back and live with you again.  I

         15  am doing tolerably well here, I get $25 a month with

         16  food and clothing, have a comfortable home for

         17  Mandy, the folks call her Mrs. Anderson, and the

         18  children go to school and are learning well.

         19                 Mandy says she would be afraid to go

         20  back without some proof that you were disposed to

         21  treat us justly and kindly. And we have concluded to

         22  test your sincerity by asking you to send us our

         23  wages for the time we served you.  I served you

         24  faithfully for 32 years.  If you fail to pay us for

         25  our faithful labors in the past, we can have little
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          2  faith in your promises in the future.

          3                 We trust the Good Maker has opened

          4  your eyes to the wrongs which you and your fathers

          5  have done to me and my fathers in making us toil for

          6  you for generations without pay.

          7                 In answering this letter, please,

          8  state if there have been any schools opened for the

          9  colored children in your neighborhood.  The great

         10  desire of my life is to give my children an

         11  education.

         12                 From your old servant,

         13                 Jordan Anderson"

         14                 And that was written in 1865, and I

         15  think that sets the tone and pace for our hearings.

         16                 Thank you very much.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

         18  much, Council Member Barron.  I want to acknowledge

         19  some of the members who have joined us.  You have

         20  heard from Council Member Barron, the author of

         21  three of the resolutions that are before this

         22  Committee today. I want to acknowledge from my

         23  right, but who normally is on my left, far left,

         24  Councilwoman Margarita Lopez.  And sitting next to

         25  her is Council Member Seabrook of the Bronx.  One of
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          2  the resolutions that we will be hearing today was

          3  authored by Councilwoman Helen Foster, a resolution

          4  in support of the Federal establishment of hearings.

          5    I want to acknowledge Councilwoman Clarke, Yvette

          6  Clarke.  I want to acknowledge Council Member

          7  Nelson, Council Member Comrie, and Council Member

          8  Vallone, Jr., and Council Member Bob Jackson.  And

          9  of course, last but never least, Council Member Al

         10  Vann.

         11                 Let me just make, again, some quick

         12  observations and understandings.  This Council is in

         13  the process of doing a budget, which has been

         14  delayed and that is why the seats are set up as they

         15  are, because the members normally would be sitting

         16  in those seats to vote on some aspects of the budget

         17  this afternoon.  There are some delays, we are

         18  waiting for some legislation to come down from

         19  Albany.

         20                 So we are happy that you are here.

         21  We wish that the arrangements were as they would

         22  normally be during a hearing, but the matter is such

         23  that I think we can take care of the business as is.

         24    We are pressed for time, so at some point we are

         25  going to ask all witnesses to limit their testimony,
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          2  and we will have a clock that will be turned on so

          3  that you will know when your testimony period is

          4  over.  We want to hear from everyone, we want to

          5  have an opportunity to ask questions and have some

          6  dialogue with everyone. So we are going to ask that

          7  folks be cognizant of the time and the fact that

          8  there are so many others that might want to testify.

          9                 I want to begin today by calling for

         10  Attorney Roger Wareham, please come forward.

         11                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  Good

         12  afternoon, Mr. Wareham.  It is our custom for this

         13  Committee to swear everyone in. So could you please

         14  raise your right hand?  Do you solemnly swear or

         15  affirm that the testimony you are about to give is

         16  the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         17                 MR. WAREHAM:  I do.

         18                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  Thank you.

         19    For the record, would you please state your name

         20  and where you are from?

         21                 MR. WAREHAM:  I'm Roger Wareham.  I'm

         22  an attorney, Thomas, Wareham and Richards, and a

         23  member of the December 12th Movement.  Begin?  Okay.

         24                 Thank you for the time and I

         25  appreciate you sort of jumping me in the order, I
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          2  have to catch a plane to South Africa. We filed a

          3  lawsuit, you know, we mentioned before how the world

          4  is getting smaller, we filed a lawsuit against

          5  corporations that profited during the apartheid

          6  regime and we have some work that we have got to do

          7  for that, so I have to catch a plane in a couple of

          8  hours.  So I will be giving my statement.

          9                 First, I would like to thank

         10  Councilman Perkins for the opportunity to testify at

         11  this historic hearing.

         12                 On this occasion there may still be

         13  some who ask why the New York City Council is

         14  considering a resolution addressing the issue of

         15  reparations?  The answer lies partially in New York

         16  City's long suppressed history of slavery and

         17  racism.  But the answer is also tied to the issue of

         18  globalization.  Globalization has provided great

         19  benefits for US and multi- national corporations and

         20  great misery and exploitation for the vast majority

         21  of the world.  Globalization is a new word for an

         22  old concept. Globalization in its infancy kidnaped

         23  millions of Africans to bring us to the so- called

         24  Western Hemisphere to be enslaved.

         25                 This Juneteenth we, the victims of
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          2  globalization, are making it work for us.  My law

          3  firm, Thomas, Wareham and Richards, is part of a

          4  legal team which brought the first case suing

          5  private corporations for reparations for the blood

          6  money they made during the Trans- Atlantic Slave

          7  Trade and Slavery.  This week, the same legal team

          8  filed suit against three of the multi- national

          9  corporations which profiteered during the Apartheid

         10  era in South Africa.  What these cases have in

         11  common are multi- national corporate defendants;

         12  African Continental and Diasporic Plaintiffs. This

         13  is a new form of globalization, where the victims

         14  strike back. Globalization has indeed shrunk the

         15  world, the perpetrators of crimes against humanity

         16  have lost their impunity and have nowhere to hide.

         17                 Reparations for African people is a

         18  global issue. The US government's walkout from the

         19  United Nations World Conference against Racism,

         20  Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related

         21  Intolerance in Durban, South Africa last year has

         22  everything to do with its refusal to address the

         23  issue of reparations for its citizenry of African

         24  descent.  The US and all the former colonizing and

         25  settler- colony countries whose present status as
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          2  developed countries is directly tied to the stolen

          3  wealth created by slavery and colonialism formed a

          4  united front to oppose the declaration by the World

          5  Conference of the Trans- Atlantic Slave Trade and

          6  Slavery as a crime against humanity.  Their

          7  opposition was unsuccessful.  The victory at the

          8  World Conference against Racism was a victory for

          9  African people.  It could not have occurred without

         10  a tremendous organizing effort on the ground.  My

         11  organization, the December 12th Movement, along with

         12  the National Black United Front and other

         13  organizations around the country took over a more

         14  than 300- member delegation, called the Durban 400,

         15  to lobby for three key issues:

         16                 The declaration of the Trans-

         17  Atlantic Slave Trade, Slavery and Colonialism as

         18  crimes against humanity; Reparations for African

         19  people on the Continent and in the Diaspora;

         20  recognition of the economic basis of racism.  It was

         21  the work of the Durban 400 and the African and

         22  African Descendant NGO (non- governmental

         23  organization) Caucus which provided the necessary

         24  support to the African Group of countries who were

         25  sponsors of the Declaration. During the two year
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          2  preparation process leading up to Durban, the

          3  African Group had been threatened and coerced by the

          4  Western countries to force it to withdraw its

          5  support for these three issues.  We knew that the

          6  passage of the Declaration would not happen simply

          7  because it was historically true and morally right.

          8  Success would depend on the mobilization of forces.

          9  Thus the need for the Durban 400.

         10                 Before leaving Durban, the Durban 400

         11  leadership called for a national demonstration in

         12  the United States to continue the momentum which was

         13  growing around the reparations movement.  The date

         14  we decided on was August 17th for a National Rally

         15  to demand reparations, in Washington, D.C.  Once

         16  again, we proceeded from the view that it is the

         17  masses who make history. That when Frederick

         18  Douglass said, "Power concedes nothing without a

         19  demand," that it would be the demand of the masses

         20  of our people in Washington, D.C., which would push

         21  the reparations movement to a higher stage.

         22                 The goal of the August 17th rally is

         23  to be broad based and mass.  You need not belong to

         24  any particular organization, nor subscribe to any

         25  one view about the form of reparations.  The only
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          2  requirement for participation is that you support

          3  reparations for African people.  Our presence there

          4  in the hundreds of thousands will embody Frederick

          5  Douglass' Demand.

          6                 My response to those who say that all

          7  we need do is await the resolution of the legal

          8  cases is this.  While I have complete confidence in

          9  the viability of our legal claims against these

         10  corporations and the skill of our legal team, I

         11  understand that, as in Durban, truth and morality

         12  are not enough to attain justice.  Legal decisions

         13  in this country have always been driven by social,

         14  political and economic factors.  The success of any

         15  of the current or future reparations lawsuits will

         16  be tied to an assessment by the defendants of the

         17  mass support for that demand.

         18                 Finally, thus I encourage all who

         19  support Councilman Barron's resolution in

         20  particular, and all who support reparations in

         21  general, to be in Washington, D.C. On August 17th.

         22  I also propose that the City Council support this

         23  process by issuing a proclamation recognizing August

         24  17th as National Reparations Day.

         25                 Thank you for your time and
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          2  consideration.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

          4  much, Attorney Wareham.  I believe one of the

          5  members of the Committee - - Attorney Roger Wareham,

          6  I believe a member of the Committee wants to ask you

          7  a question.

          8                 MR. WAREHAM:  I have bad manners.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  And let me just

         10  say I want to, I appreciate the testimony that you

         11  gave, and want to just say because of the

         12  circumstances that we are operating under with the

         13  budget, that we are going to have really get kind of

         14  strict about the time frame in which people are

         15  going to be able to make their presentation, as well

         16  as respond, so that we can get as much participation

         17  as possible.

         18                 So at this point I want to call on my

         19  colleague, Council Member Peter Vallone, Jr.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Thank you

         21  for staying. Actually it's not a question posed to

         22  you.  I would like to, first of all, commend you,

         23  Mr. Perkins, for your efforts.  As head of this

         24  Committee, I have agreed with almost every one of

         25  your hearings, up until today.  I must respectfully
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          2  disagree with you, Mr. Wareham and Mr. Perkins and

          3  the rest of my colleagues who believe that

          4  reparations are a fair way of redressing past

          5  wrongs.

          6                 I do not believe that reparations are

          7  either fair or practical, and I also believe that it

          8  will drive Americans apart. Americans of all colors

          9  shed their blood in the Civil War to repay any debt

         10  that was owed, especially here in New York City,

         11  which is one of the leaders of the North during that

         12  fight.  Any debt that was owed was repaid with the

         13  blood of the people from New York City.

         14                 Now what we should be doing in the

         15  City Council is building on their legacy to make

         16  sure that any vestiges of racism or inequality are

         17  removed.  This is not the way to do it.  By dragging

         18  this debate into the past, we are going to hinder

         19  the progress which we have made over this past

         20  century and a half.

         21                 Now I agree, I mean, I understand

         22  that this is just a Commission, but this is a City-

         23  funded Commission.  We were all here until midnight

         24  last night discussing budget cuts, discussing cuts

         25  in vital services to things like senior services and
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          2  education and the arts and the cultural

          3  institutions.  To say that we should cut these and

          4  the Police, by the way, and to say that we should

          5  cut more in order to fund the Commission to study

          6  this at this time is not the right or appropriate

          7  response.

          8                 I'm opposed to it.  I thank you for

          9  coming here.  I applaud you in your efforts down in

         10  South Africa, but I respectfully disagree with you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  I want to thank

         12  you very much for your observations colleague,

         13  Vallone.

         14                 MR. WAREHAM:  I have a very brief

         15  answer, because I know there are other people who

         16  are scheduled to speak who will respond to it.

         17                 I think that one of the problems in

         18  terms of the development and movement forward of the

         19  history of the United States is this myth that it

         20  will push the community apart.  The fact is that the

         21  communities are apart, and one of the reasons the

         22  communities are apart is that there has never been

         23  redress for the crime against humanity which was

         24  committed.  And that we are in a situation today

         25  that when you look at the statistics, particularly
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          2  in New York City that define the quality of life in

          3  terms of infant mortality, in terms of health care,

          4  life expectancy, wealth, unemployment, incarceration

          5  and you compare the statistics of the Black

          6  community and the Latino community and that of the

          7  white community, you would have people who swear

          8  that you were talking about two different nations,

          9  not people who supposedly have the same citizenship,

         10  same opportunities and same rights.

         11                 And the only way, and that exists,

         12  not because of a genetic defect in our community, it

         13  exists because of a historical imbalance which was

         14  never redressed.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Roger, I know

         17  that you are rushing, you won the seat.  So there is

         18  another member of the Committee, one final question

         19  from Council Member Jackson, and then a comment from

         20  Council Member Barron.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  Thank you,

         22  and thank you for coming to give us some insight as

         23  to what you are doing on behalf of the people.  But

         24  I have to respectfully disagree with my colleague,

         25  Peter Vallone, Jr.  And I think that this, and I'm

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            23

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  glad that he came here to express himself, because

          3  it is important that we as a people are willing to

          4  listen to different opinions on all sides concerning

          5  the issue.  And I think when we listen intently as

          6  to what people are saying and the reasons why, and

          7  attempt to understand their reasoning and logic,

          8  that is good and that is really what life is about,

          9  living and learning every single day, and that we

         10  do.

         11                 And I say to all of those that

         12  believe, or in their opinion that we should not have

         13  a Commission to study this issue. And one

         14  constituent of mine wrote me a letter saying he

         15  disagreed wholeheartedly with me as a Council member

         16  representing Northern Manhattan.  And let me tell

         17  you, if you know my district, my district

         18  geographically and the breakdown is about 32 percent

         19  African- American, about 49, 51 percent Latino,

         20  about 14 percent white, and about 5 percent other.

         21  So I am elected from a very diverse district.  But

         22  for anyone to tell me, we should not even establish

         23  a Commission to study?  It says to me that they are

         24  closed minded.

         25                 So my question to you is this, what
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          2  is your opinion or what advice can you give me, as a

          3  Council member, for those individuals that may say

          4  to me as a Council member, that we should not even

          5  establish a Commission to study this issue, someone

          6  who has been an advocate on this, what kind of

          7  advice can you give to me?

          8                 MR. WAREHAM:  I do not think my

          9  advice can be any more eloquent than the one that

         10  you gave.  I think, unless someone is wedded to

         11  being close minded, I thought part of the whole aura

         12  of the United States is democracy and the ability to

         13  move forward. I think that is what the myth is.  I

         14  think the reality is that it is very narrow, it is

         15  very short.

         16                 But I think the only thing you can

         17  tell, I would argue with people or try to persuade

         18  people, is you cannot move forward if you do not

         19  look back.  You cannot start from yesterday I had a

         20  car and you stole it, and today you come up to me

         21  and say, do I want to ride in your car?  And you

         22  cannot do that, you have got to look at how did you

         23  get the car?  And I think that is the problem.

         24                 And I think it is also a question of

         25  if people sincerely believe that they want people to
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          2  move forward and they want the community to get

          3  together, then they have got to deal with the

          4  injuries that were done that were never redressed.

          5  Otherwise, the people who were the victims are

          6  always going to be resentful, and the people who

          7  were the beneficiaries of the acts of the

          8  perpetrators, will never see that what they have

          9  today is due to something that was illegal at the

         10  time.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Council Member

         12  Peter Vallone, Jr. And then Council Member Barron.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Thank you,

         14  Council Member Jackson for acknowledging that I was

         15  open- minded, but I believe you ended by saying I

         16  was closed minded.  So I just wanted to respond to

         17  that briefly by saying you can oppose this

         18  Commission on the basis of the City- funding.  If

         19  you would like to start a private Commission, I will

         20  donate.  This is a City- funded, and that is why I

         21  oppose it.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

         24  much.  Council Member Barron.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  To Council
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          2  Member Vallone, I just wanted to bring to his

          3  attention that his father, Peter Vallone, Sr. Has

          4  Resolution No. 2549, a resolution calling upon the

          5  United States government to formally acknowledge the

          6  mistreatment of Italian- Americans during the second

          7  World War and to give these Italian- Americans and

          8  to the members of other ethnic groups similarly

          9  mistreated reparations comparable to those given to

         10  Japanese- Americans, Peter Vallone, Sr.

         11                 Now if it is good for Italians, it is

         12  good for Africans.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  All right

         14  folks.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  And just in

         16  closing it does not matter whether it is a City-

         17  funded Commission.  I believe your comments was that

         18  reparations will divide us, and that it is not

         19  something that we need to get into at this time.  So

         20  I do not think you can hide behind the budget crisis

         21  and funding, because we are not talking about a lot

         22  of money, it's a minuscule piece of money to form a

         23  Commission.

         24                 Thank you very much.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Chair.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            27

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

          3  much, Attorney- -

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  A point of

          5  personal privilege.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Sure, no

          7  problem.  Thank you very much, Attorney Wareham.  I

          8  do not believe your, thank you for your testimony

          9  and your time.  And in the meantime, I want to call

         10  forward, I am going to have start creating panels

         11  because of the time constraints that are on us.

         12  Will Multa Masamailer (phonetic) please come

         13  forward, and I want him to be joined by Reverend

         14  Daughtry.  And following this panel will be

         15  Congressman Conyers and Assemblyman Roger Green.

         16                 I am going to, I just want to say,

         17  folks, that we are really on some serious time

         18  constraints and we are going to try to allow folks

         19  to speak as much as possible, but really want to try

         20  to be as concise and precise as possible so we can

         21  get as many folks participating.

         22                 And at this point I want allow

         23  Council Member Vallone, Jr. To have a word.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Charles, I

         25  hate to interrupt your speech with the facts.  But
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          2  that resolution called for reparations to the actual

          3  people who were interned by our government, the same

          4  way that the Japanese people were and received

          5  compensation for being interned, that is what that

          6  resolution called for.  And it was for actual

          7  property which was taken from the people who were

          8  intern, which is a far cry from what is happening

          9  today.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  All right,

         11  thank you very much.  We are now going to hear from

         12  our next panel.

         13                 MR. MASAMAILER:  I'm Multa Masamailer

         14  from the -               COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:

         15  Hold on, please.

         16                 MR. MASAMAILER:  I'm Multa Masamailer

         17  from the -               COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:

         18  Hold on.  Okay, it is our custom to swear every

         19  witness in, okay?

         20                 MR. MASAMAILER:  Oh, I'm sorry.

         21                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  Could you

         22  each raise your right hand?  Do you solemnly swear

         23  or affirm that the testimony you are about to give

         24  is the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         25                 MR. MASAMAILER:  Yes, I do.
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          2                 REV. DAUGHTRY:  Yes.

          3                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  Please,

          4  for the record, state your name and where you are

          5  from?  Thank you.

          6                 MR. MASAMAILER:  Multa Masamailer,

          7  I'm an Attorney from, born and raised in New York

          8  City, representing the Reparations Mobilization

          9  Coalition.  I am also a member of the International

         10  Steering Committee of the African Study Caucus at

         11  the World Conference Against Racism, and the

         12  International Coordinator Committee for the Barbados

         13  Conference of African and African Descendants

         14  planned for this coming October in Barbados.

         15                 As one of the members of the initial

         16  organizing Committee for this Committee hearing, I

         17  would like to thank Councilman Bill Perkins and

         18  Councilman Charles Barron for their hard work and

         19  diligence in this Juneteenth Committee hearing.

         20                 I have been asked to give an

         21  overview, and I am going to be very short, because I

         22  think that a lot of the points that I was going to

         23  make, have been made and probably will be made again

         24  and again.  You know I found it particularly

         25  interesting with respect to Councilman Peter
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          2  Vallone, Junior's remarks with respect to the Civil

          3  War.  And I think that what we have to understand,

          4  as reparations is a story, in fact, an attempt, a

          5  movement to get out the true history of events,

          6  circumstances and the continuing condition of our

          7  people.  And in effect, we are not just talking

          8  about what occurred during the Civil War or what

          9  occurred during slavery, or what occurred during the

         10  middle passage.  But we are also talking about the

         11  continuing ongoing damages that our people have been

         12  affected by systemic racism, institutional racism,

         13  you know, and all of the denial of basic fundamental

         14  rights that happened subsequent to the Civil War.

         15                 But during the Civil War the

         16  Emancipation Proclamation was a strategic military

         17  decision on the part of the President of the United

         18  States, which by the way he was forced to sign by

         19  Congress, because, those of you who do not know,

         20  President Lincoln wanted slavery to end in 1900 with

         21  compensation to the slave masters.  But being that

         22  so many people were dying in Civil War, Congress

         23  forced him to sign the Emancipation Proclamation in

         24  1863.  But during that war, some 280,000 Africans,

         25  former slaves participated in the Union Army and
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          2  fought the Confederacy and 40,000 African, former

          3  African slaves died in the Civil War liberating

          4  their people from slavery and the slave plantations

          5  during the Civil War.  So we need to talk about the

          6  true history and the true reasons why we had the

          7  Civil War in the first instance.

          8                 What we see today with respect to

          9  these resolutions that are coming out of the New

         10  York City Council, the bill introduced the Queens

         11  Mother Reparations Bill, introduced by Councilman

         12  Barron, as well as the very important and equally,

         13  strategically equally as valuable and important

         14  bill, introduced by Senator Roger Green in a State

         15  Assembly up in Albany, really represents part of an

         16  ongoing, continuing movement of our people around

         17  reparations.  And New York City's efforts powerful

         18  and as potent as they will be, will contribute to

         19  this continuing dynamic that we see, not just

         20  locally, not just in states, but nationally, as well

         21  as globally.

         22                 And I think that Brother Roger

         23  Wareham identified some of that global activity that

         24  came out of the World Conference against Racism that

         25  was articulated in Durban, the Trans- Atlantic Slave
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          2  Trade and the declaration that Trans- Atlantic Slave

          3  Trade and Slavery were crimes against humanity,

          4  ultimately giving us, you know, the basis for

          5  litigation, the legal right, no statute of

          6  limitations in anything that is determined to be by

          7  International Law a crime against humanity.

          8                 In Atlanta, Chicago, Oakland,

          9  Cleveland, Dallas, Washington, D.C., Nashville,

         10  Detroit, and in the State of Louisiana, we have

         11  similar resolutions that have been passed on

         12  reparations.  Prior to the reparations, resolutions

         13  and bills that are being introduced here in New York

         14  City and in the State of New York.  And we have to

         15  see that that is part of an ongoing movement that

         16  has taken place around the world.

         17                 Roger Wareham is going to South

         18  Africa to continue his efforts in the litigation,

         19  lawsuit that was filed against Aetna Life Insurance,

         20  et al, but also we have to know that three days ago,

         21  there is a lawsuit being filed in South Africa

         22  against corporations who, in fact, the people of

         23  South Africa are suing for reparations.  That there

         24  is litigation being filed in England, right now by

         25  the Black Lawyers Association of England and Whales,
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          2  a reparations lawsuit.  There are reparations

          3  lawsuits being organized in Toronto, Canada, a

          4  Canadian- wide litigation effort. There are lawsuits

          5  being prepared for the Caribbean.  There are

          6  lawsuits being prepared at this time, as we speak,

          7  in Brazil, in Uruguay, in Venezuela, and in Central

          8  America.

          9                 So if we can understand that this

         10  effort that is going on here in New York City is in

         11  fact part of a global movement around reparations.

         12  A movement that in fact has entailed and will entail

         13  a billion plus people, Africa and the entire African

         14  Diaspora.  We are talking about 800 million people

         15  on the Continent of Africa, and we are talking about

         16  250 million people plus, if we talk about from

         17  Canada, from North America, Canada, down to the tip

         18  of South America in Uruguay.  There are 250 million

         19  people of African descent in the Americas, there are

         20  150 million people of African descent in Latin

         21  America alone.  And this reparations movement has

         22  involved and it is ongoing evolution is involving

         23  virtually every one.  And we have to understand the

         24  context in which the efforts today that are being

         25  made here at the City Council are within the context

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            34

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  of the global movement.

          3                 So you have reparations moving to

          4  Nimibia, Zimbaway, South Africa.  You have

          5  reparations movement in Africa, Europe. There is a

          6  European- African Descendent Federation being built

          7  for the express purpose of organizing a European-

          8  wide reparations movement.  Again, - -

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Would you

         10  please sum up because we are sort of pressed for

         11  time?

         12                 MR. MASAMAILER:  Right on, brother.

         13  So I was really trying to put everything in context.

         14    And I think that we have to understand that within

         15  the reparations movement you have a legislative

         16  initiative, you have a legal initiative, you have

         17  international mobilization, such as occurred in

         18  Durban, and which is moving forward.  We see that

         19  mobilization taking place in August 17th in a

         20  demonstration in Washington, D.C., and a call for an

         21  International Conference of African Descendants in

         22  Barbados this coming October.

         23                 So when we talk about reparations and

         24  we talk about supporting this bill, we should do it

         25  with the full understanding that we are in effect
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          2  creating a new world, creating a whole dynamic for

          3  the restoration of true justice in US society and

          4  society of the world.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

          7  much for your presentation.  I also want to publicly

          8  acknowledge the support and contribution that you

          9  made towards helping to formulate this particular

         10  hearing and the work that you have done in the past.

         11    So thank you very much.

         12                 REV. DAUGHTRY:  Good, all right.

         13  Boy, I really entered the modern age, all you do is

         14  push buttons around here.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  I'm going to

         16  have to, again, remind folks that I am going to have

         17  to strict about the time frame in which we make our

         18  presentation, in which we have our exchanges in

         19  order to get as many people on as possible,

         20  especially since several of our witnesses have

         21  schedules to leave town that I have to respect,

         22  including our Congressman John Conyers and

         23  Assemblyman Roger Green.

         24                 REV. DAUGHTRY:  Does that mean, Mr.

         25  Chairman, that you are confining me to half an hour?
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          2    Herb Daughtry, the National Minister at the House

          3  of the Lord Church.  Okay, raise my hand?

          4                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  Do you

          5  solemnly swear that the testimony you are about to

          6  give is the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          7                 REV. DAUGHTRY:  I am compelled to

          8  always give the truth.

          9                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  Okay, I

         10  thank you. Please proceed.

         11                 REV. DAUGHTRY:  You're welcome.

         12  Before I bring my humble offering to this momentous

         13  discussion, I'm compelled to commend those who have

         14  brought us to this day, my friend, and brother, and

         15  parishioner, Councilman Charles Barron, the

         16  Chairperson William Perkins, and to our student,

         17  Yvette Clarke, and to all of the members of this

         18  illustrious body.  You make history here today, in

         19  this illustrious place with countless resolutions

         20  and legislation have been enacted.  But I think I

         21  would be far within the mark to say nothing that has

         22  been done before transcends what we do here today.

         23  But let me take it a step further and make bold to

         24  say, nothing that has happened before, albeit, a

         25  paramount importance compares to what we do here on
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          2  this 19th day of June, 2002.

          3                 You have chosen a significant date,

          4  as we pointed out, June 19th, because in 1865,

          5  finally, our people came to the knowledge that they,

          6  in fact, were legally free, according to the

          7  Emancipation 1863.

          8                 I would like to begin then by posing

          9  the question, to set the parameters of our

         10  discussion, did slavery exist, was it wrong, did

         11  some people benefit from it, did some people suffer

         12  because of it, does the legacy of slavery continue

         13  today, should some form of pay back be made, is

         14  there a precedent for reparation, how would

         15  reparation be paid to us, will we win or accomplish

         16  anything?

         17                 Let me respond to the question, did

         18  slavery exist? I do not think that anybody would

         19  argue to the contrary.

         20                 Second, was it wrong?  Who but the

         21  devil would argue the rightness of slavery.

         22                 Did some people benefit from slavery?

         23    This question alone with the other side is the

         24  core of the whole argument.  In a word slavery

         25  produced astronomical wealth, status, privilege for
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          2  some people, while at the same time subjecting other

          3  people to indescribable savagery.  Some people's

          4  labor, creativity, bodies were used to advance other

          5  people's interest.  Countless books, innumerable

          6  articles have been written to demonstrate that the

          7  wealth, which was produced by the enslaved formed

          8  the foundation of Euro- American wealth and power,

          9  even today.  I recommend that you read Erik Williams

         10  great book, "Capitalism In Slavery," also Dr. Walter

         11  Rodney's great book, "How Europe Underdeveloped

         12  Africa."

         13                 But you know what I would like to

         14  argue from another standpoint, not only in terms of

         15  what we contributed, but what fascinates me is who

         16  came to America in the first place, and I like to

         17  quote from my recent book, "My Beloved Community,"

         18  and after considerable research, this is who came to

         19  America, listen:

         20                  "Gentlemen of adventures came, they

         21  were relatively few, they came for loot and did not

         22  attend to stay long.  Fewer still came for

         23  adventure, they did not stay long either.  Some came

         24  as settlers, there were five categories in this

         25  group.  They were the seekers after freedom, they
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          2  were very few indeed.  They were the adventure

          3  servants, they were relatively few.  They were the

          4  kidnapped, male, black, white.  And number four, and

          5  pay particular attention, they were the convicts,

          6  the deminute (phonetic),the prostitutes, the

          7  outcasts and they came in great numbers.  The

          8  outcasts of Europe were expected to people the new

          9  world.  They were given a choice continuing

         10  incarceration, for some even facing the gallows or

         11  the guillotine or going to the new world.  They

         12  choose the new world.  They came in droves.

         13                 In 1611, Governor Dole urged James

         14  the First to transport all condemned persons to

         15  Virginia, before that they were shipped to India.

         16  The Committee of Trade of New York petitioned the

         17  authorities to send to New York all prisoners to be

         18  transported from New Gate Prison.  Nobody else from

         19  the white laboring class was prepared to open up

         20  West Virginia.  The American Historical Review

         21  states that the transportation of convicts was of

         22  regular and systematic procedure through the 17th,

         23  18th Century and estimated 20,000 of these convicts

         24  came to America, to Maryland alone between 1737,

         25  1767."
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          2                 I can go on, I have got a whole

          3  chapter which underscores that the people who really

          4  came here were convicts deminute, prostitutes, on

          5  their way to the gallows and the guillotines.  The

          6  other great number of people who came were African

          7  people. These convicts did not know how to till any

          8  ground, they did not know anything about mining,

          9  that is why the African slave came who had had a

         10  long history of doing all of that.  So when you look

         11  at who came and realize that these convicts who

         12  really came, they were not about doing any work at

         13  all, then it fell upon us to do the work.

         14                 I'm coming down to the end, Mr.

         15  Chairman, if you are getting a little nervous.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

         17  much.

         18                 REV. DAUGHTRY:  But I would like to

         19  speak - -

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  I have got a

         21  time frame with regard to some of the witnesses,

         22  that is the only reason.

         23                 REV. DAUGHTRY:  Okay, I have got, how

         24  many did you say?  I have got 10 more minutes?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  You are on your
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          2  last, I would like you to summarize.

          3                 REV. DAUGHTRY:  I like you, you

          4  always have a political response.  All right.  To

          5  respond to Councilman Peter Vallone, Jr., slavery

          6  did not stop in 1865.  The most vicious time of

          7  terrorism was between 1865 and 1898.  You are

          8  talking about terror today, some people say I am

          9  uncomfortable because of the inconvenience, well

         10  welcome to Black America, we normalized terrorism.

         11  So that from 1865 to 1895 thousands, ten thousands

         12  of our people were killed, they were lynched from

         13  1882 to 1868, 4,743 of our people were lynched, that

         14  is a small number.  Not only did slavery continue,

         15  it continued in the form of peonage (phonetic), it

         16  continued in the form of sharecropping, it continued

         17  in the form of land thefts, and it continues today

         18  in the penal system, which is a near form of

         19  slavery.

         20                 So slavery, the legacy of slavery,

         21  Sir, continues on today.  And therefore, if we are

         22  going to be consistent with history and other people

         23  who have received reparation, then we are bound to

         24  say it's time to pay up.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

          3  much for your testimony and your insight and your

          4  cooperation with regard to the clock.

          5                 I want to take a moment to

          6  acknowledge some of my colleagues that have joined

          7  us.  First and foremost, one of our mentors and

          8  someone who has really helped to shape this Council,

          9  especially now that his daughter is amongst us,

         10  Councilman Wendell Foster.  One of the first signers

         11  onto the resolutions proposed was a new member of

         12  the City Council, in fact, he, himself, has made

         13  history being the first Asian- American elected to

         14  any office in this country, a member of our Black

         15  and Hispanic and Asian Caucus, John Liu, Council

         16  Member John Liu.  My brother, Council Member Phil

         17  Reed, sometimes known as Bill Perkins, the Phil and

         18  Bill show. Councilwoman Christine Quinn, the

         19  Chairwoman of our Health Committee.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  If I could

         21  just ask housekeeping, I think this was my error,

         22  but I seemed to have only signed onto Reso. 41, if

         23  my name could just be added as a sponsor to all of

         24  them.  I think that was my error.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very
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          2  much, Councilwoman Quinn.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Another member

          5  of a legacy, Council Member Jose Serrano, Jr., whose

          6  father joins our Congressman Conyers in Congress.

          7                 I also want to call your attention to

          8  the exhibits, which are historic documents, copies

          9  of historic documents, one is a bill of sale for a

         10  slave executed in New York City.  Another, the

         11  second is a letter from a slave about the racial mix

         12  of a relative in New York City.  The other two are

         13  manumition (phonetic) papers executed in New York

         14  City under the condition that the slave could

         15  provide for himself.  All are from our City's

         16  Municipal Archives, our history is documented in the

         17  City Archives.  And that is one reason why we are so

         18  concerned that those archives are being protected

         19  and that those documents that have been, the so-

         20  called Giuliani papers that have been taken from

         21  those archives be returned.

         22                 Thank you very much to the panel for

         23  your cooperation and your testimony.  Now we are

         24  going to hear from our next panel, Congressman John

         25  Conyers and Assemblyman Roger Green. And while they
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          2  are coming to the witness stand, I want to

          3  acknowledge also joining us is another dynamic

          4  freshman, a Council member from the great Borough of

          5  Brooklyn, sometimes known as the County of Kings,

          6  Council Member John Davis, I mean James Davis, I'm

          7  sorry.

          8                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  Good

          9  afternoon.  Would you each raise your right hand to

         10  be sworn in?  Do you each solemnly swear or affirm

         11  that the testimony you are about to give is the

         12  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         13                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS:  Yes, I do.

         14                 ASSEMBLYMAN GREEN:  Yes, I do.

         15                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  Please,

         16  each state your name, for the record, and where you

         17  are from?  Thank you.

         18                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS:  Congressman

         19  John Conyers from the 14th District of Michigan.

         20                 ASSEMBLYMAN GREEN:  State Assemblyman

         21  Roger Green from the 57th Assembly District of

         22  Brooklyn.

         23                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  Please

         24  proceed, Congressman Conyers.

         25                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS:  Thank you very
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          2  much.  Mr. Chairman and members of the Committee,

          3  past members of the Council, and friends, this is a

          4  historic hearing.  The reason is because of the

          5  quality of the discussion and the presentations that

          6  are being made.  There are councils all over America

          7  that have done what it looks likely that you will

          8  do, namely, to endorse the proposal that we examine

          9  reparations in the light of 21st Century activity,

         10  the legal precedence, and to do that we require a

         11  study.

         12                 Now I come to you as the author of

         13  the bill to make Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr.'s

         14  birthday a national legal holiday. It took 15 years.

         15    I am confident that the resolutions that you are

         16  considering and that are being considered in state

         17  houses, in the Congress of the United States, and in

         18  City Councils across America will never take that

         19  long.

         20                 But I want to say, if I can, a word

         21  of encouragement to Councilman Vallone, who could

         22  easily be misunderstood in the context of this

         23  discussion.  First of all, Councilman, I have stood

         24  alone in the Congress many, many times against what

         25  was considered the popular opinion, and so I have to
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          2  respect you for coming here to present a view

          3  contrary, perhaps, to the majority, but nevertheless

          4  one that you hold.  And for that, we should thank

          5  you, because you could have left, you could have

          6  been absent today, and issued a press release from

          7  somewhere else in New York, or just saved your point

          8  of view for some other time.

          9                 The important thing in a Democratic

         10  session is that we discuss our views and see where

         11  we end up, because it took a long time for people to

         12  recognize the obvious that Martin Luther King was

         13  one of the great American leaders of all time, it

         14  took 15 years for us to get that straightened out.

         15                 But this is a subject more

         16  complicated, reparations is not a easy up or down.

         17  But if we have listened to the new Councilman here,

         18  you would have heard him say, as I think I did, and

         19  I would be happy to yield to him if I did not hear

         20  it correctly, is that his opposition to these

         21  measures go to them because of the matter of cost,

         22  not because of their substantive premise.

         23                 So ladies and gentlemen, I think we

         24  should treat the Councilman with a tenderness and

         25  carefulness that some might not want to accord him
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          2  this afternoon.  If his opposition is because of the

          3  expenditures, then let us all examine the

          4  expenditures.  I mean is this going to cost a

          5  billion dollars, is it going to cost a million

          6  dollars, what is it going to cost?  And of course, I

          7  have a long list of Federal expenditures, which all

          8  of you have contributed to that go into the billions

          9  for ships that will not float, planes that will not

         10  fly, projects that are staggered the imagination of

         11  science, and also projects that are given to the

         12  military when they do not even want them.  So all of

         13  these things are relative, and so I ask you to keep

         14  that in mind.

         15                 There is a technical point I would

         16  like to make, is that if anybody here said that the

         17  bill for reparations for the descendants of Japanese

         18  did not apply, that is an incorrect statement.  I am

         19  a co- sponsor of that legislation and it did apply

         20  to descendants.  And I am looking up Peter Vallone,

         21  Sr.'s bill, which I think I can prove to him that

         22  the descendants of Italians held prisoners are

         23  likewise eligible for the benefits of the provision,

         24  the reparations provision of his father.

         25                 Now I close this point with Mr.
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          2  Vallone on this, I do not think that anybody here

          3  can say that because his father is for reparations,

          4  he ought to be for them too.  As a rancorous young

          5  man in my family, I have gone against my father, my

          6  party, everything and anything, and so I do not

          7  think that that is why he ought to support them.

          8  Let's hope that in this discussion, we can all come

          9  together.  And I will be waiting carefully for the

         10  outcome of your final deliberations.

         11                 Thank you for this honor today.

         12                 ASSEMBLYMAN GREEN:  Mr. Chairman and

         13  esteemed Council people, I want to thank you for

         14  giving the opportunity to present testimony on this

         15  historic occasion, which we are looking at the

         16  resolutions being sponsored by the Council

         17  addressing the question of reparations.  I also come

         18  here thanking you for the support that you have

         19  given in support of legislation that I have

         20  introduced in the State Assembly, calling for both

         21  an acknowledgement that slavery was a crime against

         22  humanity crime against the State of New York, and

         23  calling upon the State of New York to apologize for

         24  its complicit role in the institution of slave codes

         25  in New York State.
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          2                 Also, a bill that we have introduced,

          3  Assembly Bill 9286- B, which in fact creates a

          4  Commission to quantify the debt owed to the victims

          5  of the system of the Shadow Slavery in New York

          6  State, and also creates a new Civil Law that we give

          7  individuals, families and classes of people the

          8  right to sue corporations, local government and

          9  estates for lost benefits and wages.

         10                 This, I too would, in part, like to

         11  direct my comments at the spirit of Councilman

         12  Vallone's initial opposition to the resolutions that

         13  have been brought forth, because I think it is

         14  appropriate in a Democratic institution to engage in

         15  serious debate and deliberation on these issues.

         16                 First and foremost, you know, I think

         17  it is important to acknowledge the fact that New

         18  York State was a major slave holding state.  One of

         19  the reasons that I think that there is some

         20  resistance to these resolutions, particularly in New

         21  York State is because there are far too many people

         22  have not acknowledged that fact.  In fact, New York

         23  State was a huge seaport, it was one of the most,

         24  the focal point for the slave trade, the trading of

         25  slaves on the Eastern Seaboard.  New York State was
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          2  the center of the heaviest slave holding region

          3  north of the Mason Dixon line.  The number of slaves

          4  in New York State grew to some 21,324 enslaved

          5  African human beings by the year 1790, and this was

          6  according to the US Census, thanks to the Congress

          7  of the United States.  This figure was 7,000 short

          8  of the total number of enslaved Africans that were

          9  held captive in the State of Georgia during that

         10  same period.

         11                 So I think it is first important to

         12  acknowledge that New York State was a major, major

         13  slave holding state. Additionally, in New York City,

         14  of the 3,092 Africans who were enslaved during this

         15  period of time, many of them also had family members

         16  who were in a state of what was called, Indenture

         17  Servitude.  In Upstate New York, by 1771, the slave

         18  population of the Hudson Valley was a little over

         19  one- third of the entire slave population of the

         20  entire colony, which then stood at 17,500. Albany

         21  County, which is the seat of the State's Capital,

         22  had as many as 4,000 enslaved Africans during the

         23  period of 1790.  And it is in that context, it is

         24  exactly in that context that initially there was, in

         25  fact, a call for the abolition of slavery, but a
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          2  bill, which was established essentially in 1799 and

          3  then also again in 1871 created new slave codes that

          4  created, in fact, the super exploitation of children

          5  of enslaved Africans, and this is why I am here

          6  today.

          7                 I serve not only as a member of the

          8  New York State Assembly, I serve as Chair of the New

          9  York State Black, Puerto Rican and Hispanic

         10  Legislative Caucus, but I also serve as the

         11  Chairperson of the Assembly Standing Committee on

         12  Children and Families, and it is in that context

         13  that I want to talk about how the institution of

         14  slavery, the institution of slavery, slave codes

         15  instituted by the State government of New York and

         16  supported by the City Council and the City Clerks of

         17  the City New York created the super exploitation of

         18  children.  And I have evidence of that fact, I would

         19  like to present to you, if I could?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Give it to the

         21  Sergeant- At Arms.

         22                 ASSEMBLYMAN GREEN:  What you have

         23  before you is a documentation of a receipt given to

         24  one of the numerous slave masters in New York State

         25  by the Comptroller of the State of New York,
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          2  treasurer of the State of New York.  And at the top

          3  it says, "Pursuant to an act concerning slaves and

          4  servants passed in 1801, the act, amending the Acts,

          5    entitled "An Act concerning Slaves and Servants,"

          6  and what this essentially is, is a document that

          7  reveals or underscores the complicit role that New

          8  York State had in the super exploitation of enslaved

          9  African children.

         10                 Essentially, in 1801 the State

         11  Legislature enacted a law creating a new tax, a

         12  dedicated tax where they raised taxes off of the

         13  people of the State of New York to provide resources

         14  to slave masters who would then abandon the slave

         15  children to an entity called the Overseer of the

         16  Poor.  Children went back abandoned to what was

         17  called the Overseer of the Poor.  And the City

         18  Clerks, the town clerks were responsible for the

         19  calculation of the total amount of money that should

         20  be given to these slave masters and they were then

         21  responsible for the administration of the transfer

         22  of these children to what are called the Overseer of

         23  the Poor.  The New York State government, again,

         24  enacted a law to raise taxes off of the people of

         25  the State of New York to institute this particular,
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          2  I think, horrible clause in the slave code.

          3                 And as a result of that what we saw

          4  was a super exploitation of children from 1801 to

          5  1827.  In fact, what we now know, I believe, based

          6  upon the archival evidence that we can find at the

          7  African Burial Ground, the number, the medical

          8  anthropologists and archaeologists looked at the

          9  bones of children and wondered why the bones of

         10  these children were fractured, why they seemed to be

         11  distorted, you will see the same kind of evidence

         12  throughout the entire State of New York in numerous

         13  other slave burial grounds as a result, what we

         14  think is clearly as a result of the laws that were

         15  enacted in 1801.

         16                 In fact, the contultimate (sic)

         17  example of this law and the clause of this law can

         18  be found in the case of one of the most historic

         19  figures during the period of the abolition of child

         20  slavery, which is the case of Sorgenet (phonetic)

         21  Truth, whose son, Peter, was, in fact, given as a

         22  gift as a result of the abandonment clause to a

         23  slave driver in Alabama, this is a fact.  They lived

         24  in Hudson County in New York, Sorgenet Truth's son,

         25  Peter, was given to a slave driver and he was
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          2  tortured.  He was tortured to the point that he had

          3  running sores on his back.

          4                 What we are simply saying was that

          5  the laws that were created do, in fact, represent a

          6  crime against the State of New York and a crime

          7  against humanity.  And what we also suggest is that

          8  we need laws that would rectify that.  If in fact

          9  Southern Africa can establish a system of truth and

         10  reconciliation to once and for all close the book on

         11  the type of victimization that occurred for people

         12  oppressed there, we are suggesting that we need to

         13  do the same here in New York State and throughout

         14  this nation.

         15                 Now let me also talk about this in

         16  the context -            CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Let

         17  me ask you to sum up, please?

         18                 ASSEMBLYMAN GREEN:  Okay.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you.

         20                 ASSEMBLYMAN GREEN:  I will talk about

         21  this in the context of the legislation:

         22                 1.  What we are essentially seeking

         23  is a law that will call upon the State government to

         24  formally apologize for its complicit role in crimes

         25  against the State, in crimes against humanity.  This
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          2  is a key component of any reparation initiative,

          3  which means to repair, a key component of that is

          4  the process of atonement.  And we suggest that those

          5  who serve in government must atone for these

          6  particular crimes.  We would argue to folks, to some

          7  of our colleagues, such as Peter Vallone that we do

          8  not suggest that individuals of this generation

          9  should be held accountable for crimes and sins of

         10  previous generations, but that governments,

         11  governments must be held accountable, corporations

         12  must be held accountable, and the states must be

         13  held accountable. Those social organizations that

         14  benefit from the exploitation and the oppression of

         15  people should be held accountable.

         16                 We then call for laws that would

         17  change the statute of limitation giving people the

         18  right to sue corporations, state governments, as

         19  well as local governments for the crimes that were

         20  committed against the heirs and the descendants of

         21  the enslaved Africans.  This we believe is part of

         22  the core values International Law, which says that

         23  as long as a crime is defined as a crime against

         24  humanity there is no statute of limitation

         25  prohibiting states to allow people to sue for
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          2  restitution.  And I am certain that is why Peter

          3  Vallone's father introduced a bill and the

          4  resolution that he introduced.

          5                 Finally, what I would essentially say

          6  is that we also believe that it is important for

          7  individuals to have the right to sue corporations

          8  here in New York State, in particular, there was one

          9  particular corporation that was established through

         10  the Mayflower Compact called the Stock Exchange,

         11  which in fact engaged in the trading and sale of

         12  Africans as commodities on the Stock Exchange.  And

         13  we think that that also needs to be reviewed as part

         14  of any Commission that you establish here as well as

         15  in the State of New York.

         16                 And we close by thanking you for the

         17  leadership that you provided on this most important

         18  issue.  Thank you.

         19                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS:  Chairman

         20  Perkins, may I introduce into the record the

         21  testimony from the National Coalition of Blacks for

         22  Reparations in America, submitted by Attorney

         23  Sankofa?  Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

         25  much, both of you for your testimony and your
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          2  patience and your very forthrightness with regard to

          3  this matter.

          4                 Council Member Peter Vallone, Jr.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Thank you,

          6  Mr. Chairman. Congressman Conyers, I thank you for

          7  the kind words about myself and my father.  I agree

          8  with you that debate is the foundation of our

          9  Democracy and that is why we are here today.  And I

         10  also agree with you, and I point this to Assemblyman

         11  Green and to Charles Barron, if you would like the

         12  opinion of my father, you should go speak to him.  I

         13  am here today, it's my opinion that matters, and

         14  that is what I am here to discuss.

         15                 Congressman, I know you tried to

         16  stick up for me on the financial point, but I do

         17  want to clarify, I was opposed to the Commission

         18  from a financial aspect.  I am opposed to

         19  reparations on a foundational level.  You just

         20  mentioned that governments and corporations should

         21  be held accountable.  Governments are made up of

         22  people, corporations are made up of shareholders,

         23  none who exist today who have done anything wrong.

         24                 So I know you tried to stick up for

         25  me, but I just wanted to clarify that I am not
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          2  backing off any position.  I am opposed to this.

          3                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS:  Let me ask you,

          4  Sir, do you oppose the study of whether reparations,

          5  itself, is a valid subject on which we should

          6  proceed?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  I disagree

          8  with it, I do not oppose it.  I oppose the

          9  government- funding.

         10                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS:  I see.  So you

         11  support the study if - -

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  The New York

         13  City government funding, that is what I represent

         14  here, New York City.

         15                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS:  Thank you very

         16  much.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you.  And

         18  we have a --

         19                 ASSEMBLYMAN GREEN:  And - -

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Assemblyman

         21  Green.

         22                 ASSEMBLYMAN GREEN:  Yes, I just like,

         23  on the question of why governments do sometimes

         24  establish laws that we uplift the principle of

         25  social responsibility for all people.  As an example
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          2  the Savings and Loan scandal that occurred, which

          3  you nor I had anything, you know, we were not

          4  involved in the institution of that scandal and the

          5  creation of that scandal.

          6                 But the Congress of the United

          7  States, during that period of time, ensured that

          8  those who were victimized by the scandals were, in

          9  fact, paid off.  And they raised funds for that

         10  purpose.  And so there is, essentially, a standard

         11  that has been set in government for some time that

         12  always looks at how we have a greater moral

         13  imperative, moral responsibility to those who have

         14  been victimized.  And this has occurred not only

         15  with respect to the Japanese reparations initiative

         16  that Congressman Conyers co sponsored, but other

         17  cases as well.

         18                 And so I would just suggest that I

         19  believe that sometimes that we need to be a little

         20  more empathetic in looking at how other people were

         21  victimized and looking at standards that were set by

         22  government to address those injustices.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

         24  much.  We have some additional questions to the

         25  panel from other members of the Council,
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          2  Congressman, if you have the time?  The other

          3  members of the panel want to have an opportunity to

          4  speak to you, one in particular, Councilwoman Helen

          5  Foster, who has a resolution in support of your

          6  particular bill, Councilwoman Foster.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER:  Good

          8  afternoon, I just must begin by saying I find it

          9  very unfortunate that we do have a time restraint

         10  and we have to rush through this because it is very

         11  important.  And I want to thank both of you for

         12  taking the time and you for being here.  And before

         13  I get to my question, I just want to say what

         14  divides a family is lies.  And when we stop telling

         15  the truth, that is when we divide.  And deception

         16  hurts, and what we need here is the truth.  And this

         17  Commission needs to get to the truth, and we cannot

         18  be afraid of what the truth is going to reveal.

         19  Because if we do not want to deal with truth, we are

         20  nowhere.  And that is what is going to cause

         21  division.

         22                 And I must say that when we look

         23  around the room to my brothers, and the brothers

         24  that have testified, it is sisters that keep a

         25  movement going.  And it is sisters that are always
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          2  the backbone and the strength.  So for Resolution

          3  217, I want to thank the plaintiff sisters who have

          4  stood up, and while we heard testimony from our

          5  brothers, sisters, we know what the real deal is.

          6                 And lastly, I want to say as a child

          7  whose father saw his first lynching at 7, and told

          8  his daughter the stories, I can tell you that being

          9  honest leads you to a point where you can have

         10  dialogue.  And I will not say that I respectfully

         11  disagree with my colleague, because I would be

         12  lying, because I do not respectfully disagree, I

         13  totally disagree.

         14                 Too long descendants of Africans have

         15  thought the need to be fair, we are fair with

         16  everyone else, but when it comes to us, we are not

         17  fair.  Reverend Daughtry mentioned we are always

         18  marching along side holding other people's causes

         19  and hands up, but when it comes to our causes, we

         20  are sitting here alone.  And so we need to be very

         21  mindful of what is going on, because again, it's

         22  lies that destroy, not the truth.

         23                 Congressman Conyers, I would like to

         24  know what we can do to help you get this heard at a

         25  Federal level?

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            62

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS:  Thank you very

          3  much.  The first thing that you can do is hold

          4  longer hearings in the Council of New York.  I mean

          5  there is nothing written in the law that this has to

          6  be the last hearing that we ever hold.  And I only

          7  see a small number of people in the Chambers, so

          8  there must be thousands upon thousands of people who

          9  would love to be honored to sit at a hearing of

         10  their Council persons discussing this subject.

         11                 Number two, in the process of law-

         12  making it happens in the following way:

         13                 1.  There is a ground swell of public

         14  support, which is then reflected to the member or

         15  person representing them, who then supports the

         16  legislation, and then it becomes law.

         17                 Well I am not going to tell you how

         18  many Congressmen from New York are not on this bill.

         19    Uh Oh, yes, and everybody here has a Congressman,

         20  a Congress person.  And so what we need to do, and

         21  this is a service that Attorney Cynthia Martin is

         22  very happy to provide you, is whether or not your

         23  Congress person is on HR 40 in the 107th Congress,

         24  and you would be very delighted to know how quickly

         25  they will become a member when you just call them
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          2  and remind them that they had just happened to

          3  accidentally not go on the bill.  I bet you they

          4  will be on the bill within 36 hours, that is one

          5  way.

          6                 The third way is to be with us in

          7  Washington, D.C. When we have a national rally,

          8  there should be a half million people from New York

          9  alone, this should be one of the biggest rallies in

         10  our recent history.  Besides, President Bush needs

         11  to see some people that are progressive and black

         12  and diverse in color in Washington, D.C.  So please

         13  join us there.

         14                 And thank you for your question.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  We have a few

         16  more members that want to ask questions, Council

         17  Member Comrie followed by Council Member Davis.

         18                 I understand that you have to go,

         19  Congressman, so as soon as you are ready to leave,

         20  just let us know.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  I just wanted

         22  to congratulate Congressman Conyers and Assemblyman

         23  Roger Green for everything that they have done,

         24  holding up the fight for the past 20 years to get

         25  this to this point today to where it is an national
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          2  discussion, and I'm proud and honored to be in the

          3  same Chambers with you.  I, unfortunately, as our

          4  Councilman Perkins said today we are supposed to do

          5  budget, and I'm trying to inform the members of my

          6  position as well, so I have to leave and go

          7  downstairs for a budget negotiation team meeting.  I

          8  would like to stay for the entire hearing.  I have

          9  already held a particular hearing in my district

         10  with the assistance of Viola Plummer and Ericka

         11  Ford, and I have to say that this is an issue that I

         12  am glad is getting a national hearing.  Hopefully

         13  that between all of the legislators that are talking

         14  and all of the great minds across this country, we

         15  can come to some consensus on what should be done to

         16  make sure that history is recognized for what it is

         17  and that justice can be afforded.

         18                 Thank you very much.

         19                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS:  Thank you, Sir.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Councilman

         21  Davis, Lopez and Quinn.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  Thank you so

         23  much.  I want to also welcome Congressman Conyers

         24  and Assemblyman Green. Congressman Conyers is doing

         25  the whole scandal, if you will, or the debates, my
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          2  father, who has gone onto glory, would watch the

          3  television every day and watch you.  And what

          4  inspired me was that that is the kind of person,

          5  that is the kind of leader you want to go on to be.

          6  So I just wanted to acknowledge you for that.

          7                 I am a proud sponsor of these

          8  resolutions.  My mother being from Bonwell, South

          9  Carolina, the Dunbar side of the family, and my

         10  father being from Meckenberg, Virginia, the Davis'

         11  side of the family, in fact, we came from a

         12  plantation in Virginia, the Davies Plantation in

         13  Richmond, Virginia.

         14                 This is not only a issue about

         15  Blacks, this is not only a Black issue, this is an

         16  issue of right and wrong.  And I want to make that

         17  very clear.  Here in America we have many new

         18  generation, Blacks, who have come to this country

         19  and I always get this question because I am a prime

         20  sponsor of this.  What is your opinion, and I will

         21  ask both of our welcomed guests, what is your

         22  opinion about brothers and sisters who have recently

         23  landed on these great shores, and notice I said

         24  brothers and sisters who have recently landed on

         25  these shores, being included in the reparations
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          2  discussion?

          3                 ASSEMBLYMAN GREEN:  In the New York

          4  State legislation we included descendants of the

          5  Caribbean in our legislation, primarily because the

          6  Slave Trade, both the Domestic and International

          7  Slave Trade in New York, the first enslaved Africans

          8  who came here via the Dutch West Indies Corporation

          9  came through the Caribbean.  And so we had to

         10  include that language including the entire African

         11  Diaspora in the legislation.

         12                 Most, in fact, Sorgenet Truth had a

         13  Dutch West Indian dialect.  She never spoke really

         14  English up until the latter part of her life.  She

         15  spoke, you know, no, no, no, she spoke the same

         16  language that you would hear in Southern Africa.

         17                 Also, I might add that many of the

         18  enslaved Africans who came here also came through

         19  the East West Indies Corporation. You will find,

         20  eventually, I think some folks will be testifying

         21  later on today where whole property was stolen from

         22  them here in the Lower Manhattan, titles of land in

         23  the names of people like John Angola, Louis, I think

         24  it was, Louis Congo, and those enslaved Africans

         25  came from the East West Indies Corporation.  So we
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          2  felt it was important to include the entire African

          3  Diaspora as potential participants in this

          4  particular legislation.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  Thank you very

          6  much. Congressman Conyers, do you want to respond to

          7  that?

          8                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS:  Well I adopt

          9  that response and would add that, what about the

         10  Black land loss that has been taken from Black

         11  farmers inside the United States since 1865, does

         12  not that call for some kind of compensation?  We

         13  have a whole history of how the courts, the judges

         14  and the lawyers took Black land so easily, and we

         15  have the mass of nations, which they were set up.

         16  One white person or a County Clerk would buy one

         17  part of the parcel, so that when they got ready to

         18  settle the property, he would hold out and they

         19  would end up frequently being informed that the

         20  State, the estate had been foreclosed from non-

         21  failure of taxes, or just they had a hearing and it

         22  was found that someone had superior title.  There is

         23  a huge history of Black farmers being driven off the

         24  land that needs to be investigated.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  Thank you so
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          2  very much.  We are committed, along with Councilman

          3  Charles Barron and Bill Perkins, and all of the

          4  members of this panel and all of the people that are

          5  here in this Council, we are committed to, there is

          6  nothing wrong with fact- finding.  The truth shall

          7  set you free, and we are committed to finding the

          8  truth.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

         10  much. Councilwoman Lopez, and then Councilwoman

         11  Quinn, and those are going to be the last two for

         12  this round.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Thank you for

         14  recognizing me, Mr. Chairman.  It is a pleasure to

         15  see you here, I have seen you many times on TV, but

         16  never in person.  And I have great admiration and

         17  respect for you.

         18                 The questions that I have for both of

         19  you have to do with more informational kind of

         20  stuff.  I want to know if you know names of

         21  corporations that still exist today that benefit

         22  from the Slave Trade?  I want to know if you know

         23  corporations that operated at that time continue to

         24  be the same corporation or transformed themselves

         25  and the way that they transformed themselves was by

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            69

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  the capital that they accumulated at the time?  If

          3  those corporations exist, who they are, can you tell

          4  us the names of those corporations?

          5                 ASSEMBLYMAN GREEN:  One corporation,

          6  because it is an incorporated entity, is the Stock

          7  Exchange.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  No, I hear you

          9  on that one. But I want to know if it was all the

         10  corporations that exist today in which we, in the

         11  United States, continue to invest, as an example, as

         12  consumers?  And it would be interesting for me to

         13  know who they are?

         14                 ASSEMBLYMAN GREEN:  Lehman Brothers

         15  Corporation, which is incorporated as a member of

         16  the Stock Exchange, actually owned slaves outright

         17  and owned parts of slave plantations.  The Brown

         18  Brothers Corporation, which is still in existence,

         19  has major, was a major owner of slave plantations in

         20  New Orleans.  And, of course, the Stock Exchange,

         21  itself, was incorporated under the Mayflower Compact

         22  during a period of time in which Africans were

         23  literally traded on the Stock Exchange as

         24  commodities.  And so what the reason, that is why

         25  you need your Commission, so that you can do this
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          2  research and study to see who benefitted from the

          3  exploitation of slave labor, who benefitted from

          4  lost benefits and wages as a result of the

          5  institution of slavery, I think that is very

          6  important.

          7                 Then finally with respect to local

          8  government, one of the key cornerstones of the

          9  institution of slavery in New York State was the

         10  Office of the City Clerk who was responsible for

         11  documenting and essentially serving as the traffic

         12  cop for not only the numbers of slaves who were

         13  under control of slave masters, but they worked

         14  hand- in- hand with what was called the Overseer of

         15  the Poor to essentially transfer children to

         16  plantation owners.

         17                 So I think this is why we need the

         18  Commission.  Then going beyond that I think is the

         19  whole issue of insurance policies, insurance

         20  companies, and the complicit role that they played

         21  in essentially writing policies for slave owners and

         22  for enslaved Africans.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Do we know the

         24  names of them, did some of them survive?

         25                 ASSEMBLYMAN GREEN:  Well I think
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          2  there are some other witnesses that are going to

          3  bring their testimony forth after me, and I rather

          4  they do that.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Council member,

          6  there is a panel that will be coming forward shortly

          7  that will deal directly what some of what you are

          8  raising, because they are involved actually in

          9  lawsuits that address that question.  But please, go

         10  ahead.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  In regard of

         12  banks, any banks nationwide or statewide that

         13  financed this particular entrepreneurs to

         14  commercialize human beings and bring them to a point

         15  of slavery, do you know of any, Congressman?

         16                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS:  Mr. State

         17  Assemblyman.

         18                 ASSEMBLYMAN GREEN:  You said banks?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Congressman,

         20  I'm sorry, I'm talking about if you know of the name

         21  of any banks that exist today that existed at the

         22  time or transformed themselves into banks now?

         23                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS:  I was trying to

         24  be evasive, and the reason that I was doing so,

         25  Madam Councilperson, is that that is what the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            72

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  purpose of the study is about.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Oh.

          4                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS:  If I knew all

          5  of this, I would just present it and go ahead on.

          6  But these records have been hidden, some have been

          7  destroyed, people have lied through their teeth,

          8  court proceedings have been destroyed.  But these

          9  documents are now coming forward and it is a long

         10  and complicated process of finding out who was in it

         11  or not.  I can give somebody some small assurance

         12  that everybody was not in it.

         13                 All we are looking for are the ones

         14  that were in it.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  And I guess

         16  that precisely for that reason I asked you the

         17  question.  I have to go down there to budget

         18  negotiations, because I sit on the Budget Committee.

         19    And I wanted to hear on the record for the benefit

         20  of people who are here and for the benefit of people

         21  who are watching the TV in their home, that in my

         22  opinion this issue go beyond the question of

         23  reparation.  I think it is a conspiracy to cover up

         24  this, on top of it.  And I have not signed in any of

         25  the resolutions in here, and perhaps some people may
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          2  be surprised that I had not.

          3                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS:  I am.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  I have a

          5  reason why I have not signed on it.  And part of the

          6  reason have to do with nine million women that we

          7  massacre by the Catholic Church in Europe when the

          8  women decided not to be priestess anymore and the

          9  Catholic Church needed to take over the business of

         10  priesthood, and it is connected to that.

         11                 But I am in total support of

         12  reparation for the African- American community in

         13  United States.

         14                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS:  Well then maybe

         15  you will join in the resolutions that is what they

         16  are there for too.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Yes, I am

         18  thinking about doing that, I just needed to go

         19  through the process of this hearing to hear more

         20  information about it.

         21                 Thank you and thank you for being so

         22  courageous and so great.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you so

         24  much, and our final questioner will be Councilwoman

         25  Chris Quinn.  But before she says anything, I would
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          2  like to just take a moment to acknowledge the

          3  presence of Regent Doctor Adelaide Sandford.  Thank

          4  you very much for being with us today.

          5                 Councilwoman Quinn.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  I just wanted

          7  to ask, Congressman, if you do not mind, how many

          8  New York City Congress members are sponsors of the

          9  bill?

         10                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS:  How many

         11  members, we have 38 members that are co- sponsors of

         12  this measure in the 107th Congress. After every

         13  Congress you have to start all over again.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Right.  How

         15  many of those are from New York City?

         16                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS:  No, only four

         17  or five are from New York City.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Yes,

         19  Assemblyman.

         20                 ASSEMBLYMAN GREEN:  Yes, I am going

         21  to really underscore the importance of what the

         22  Congressman has said in terms of New York State and

         23  New York City legislators supporting these type of

         24  initiatives for reparations.  And one in particular

         25  is because many of these Congress people and many of
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          2  the State legislators also supported, rightfully,

          3  supported legislation that would allow for

          4  reparations and restitution for the victims of the

          5  slave camps under Hitler Fascism.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Right.

          7                 ASSEMBLYMAN GREEN:  The fact of the

          8  matter is that in New York State, some of my

          9  colleagues know, now in the City Council,  Council

         10  Member Vann and Councilman Seabrook know that in the

         11  New York State Legislature a bill passed three years

         12  ago that allowed for the creation of reparations and

         13  restitutions for the victims of the slave camps

         14  under Hitler Right Fascism.  Those bills passed the

         15  Assembly and the Senate unanimously.

         16                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS:  Could I name

         17  you the members from New York that are on this bill?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Yes, sure.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Please, do.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  I would

         21  appreciate that, yes.

         22                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS:  Congressman

         23  Charles Rangle, Congressman Adolfus Townes,

         24  Congressman Major Owens, Congressman Gregory Meeks.

         25  That is it, folks.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Okay, so thank

          3  you for your testimony.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Thank you.

          5  But the Congress member who represents my district

          6  is not on that list, and I will work with the other

          7  Council members who share his, who he also

          8  represents the area who are also supporters of the

          9  resolutions today, I will reach out to them to ask

         10  them so that we can jointly reach out to them.

         11                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS:  May I point out

         12  that some of the members that are not on the 107th

         13  HR 40 were on earlier years of the bill.  It does

         14  not imply that they were not on in other Congresses.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

         17  much, Congressman and Assemblyman for your time,

         18  your patience and your testimony.

         19                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS:  It was an honor

         20  to be here, Sir.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  It was an honor

         22  to have you. We are now going to have a panel.  We

         23  have looked at the, through Multa Masamailer, we had

         24  an overview or sort of global overview of what is

         25  going on with the Reparations Movement.  We had an
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          2  opportunity to hear from Attorney Roger Wareham

          3  about some of the litigation that is going on and

          4  some of the movement that is going on nationally,

          5  and in terms of the World Conference Against Racism.

          6  We have had an opportunity to hear from Assemblyman

          7  Roger Green and Congressman Conyers about other

          8  legislation that is going on in the state level as

          9  well as the federal level.

         10                 Now what we would like to do, is call

         11  for a panel that is involved in some litigation,

         12  some legal lawsuits and the like that - -  I mean,

         13  I'm sorry, let me back up, I'm sorry, we want to go

         14  into a historic panel that will be represented by

         15  Doctor Howard Dodson and Rosemary Meally.  Doctor

         16  Dodson and Rosemary Meally will give us a sort of

         17  historical point of view, please come forward,

         18  identify yourselves and be sworn in.

         19                 Following this panel we will have the

         20  panel on litigation, and that panel will be

         21  following this one directly.

         22                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  Good

         23  afternoon.  Would you each raise your right hand to

         24  be sworn in?  Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

         25  the testimony you are about to give is the whole
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          2  truth and nothing but the truth?

          3                 MS. MEALLY:  Yes.

          4                 DR. DODSON:  Yes.

          5                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  Please,

          6  for the record, state your name and where you are

          7  from?

          8                 DR. DODSON:  Howard Dodson, Director

          9  of the Schomburg Center for Research in Black

         10  Culture.

         11                 MS. MEALLY:  Rosemary Meally, I'm a

         12  resident of Brooklyn.  My scholarship is in the area

         13  of Critical Race Theory.

         14                 DR. DODSON:  In the interest of time,

         15  I have a prepared statement, and I will pass that

         16  out to all members of the Committee.  Let me just

         17  state very briefly that I want to go to the heart of

         18  the issue here, which has to do with why a

         19  Commission here in New York State, why a Commission

         20  here in New York City, what is New York City's

         21  relationship to the phenomenon slavery and the Slave

         22  Trade?  And some points have already been made about

         23  the number of people who were, in fact, enslaved in

         24  New York City.  We should recognize, however, the

         25  fact that the first enslaved Africans brought to New
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          2  York City in 1625 came to work for the City, for the

          3  Colony.  They came as public slaves, not as slaves

          4  of individuals, but individuals brought here to

          5  build the forts, to construct the houses, and to

          6  otherwise be the labor force to create the

          7  foundations of the City of New York as we know it

          8  today.

          9                 So when we talk about city or state,

         10  if you will, culpability or responsibility it goes

         11  back to that formative stage of the development of

         12  slavery in New York City as an institution. It was a

         13  publicly organized and operated institution created

         14  by the laws of the Colony of New Amsterdam.

         15  Actually, a year before they supposedly made the

         16  payment to the Native Americans to purchase this

         17  Colony.

         18                 New York, however, enjoys the

         19  reputation as one of the liberal refuges from

         20  slavery during the decades leading up to the Civil

         21  War.  As many of us know, one of the centers of the

         22  National Abolitionist Movement of the 1830s through

         23  the 1860s. What is generally not recognized is that

         24  New York, itself, as stated by, I think, one of the

         25  presenters before, was itself a slave colony and a
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          2  slave state for 200 years.  Indeed, its history as a

          3  slave colony and state is longer than its history as

          4  a free state.  We have only had 177 years of

          5  freedom, we have 200 years of slavery.

          6                 Of equal significance from the

          7  founding of the Republic through the years leading

          8  up to the Civil War, New York as the financial and

          9  commercial capital of the United States controlled

         10  the sale of slave produced goods, as well as to some

         11  extent the sale of slaves in this entire region.

         12  Slave grown cotton, for instance, from the American

         13  South was shipped to New York City before it being

         14  shipped to England and to Europe.

         15                 The financing for the establishment

         16  of many of the plantations came from New York City

         17  rather than from the local regions there in the

         18  South.  And so New York City really was the kind of

         19  economic fulcrum of the National Institution of

         20  Slavery as it functioned in the United State, and

         21  certainly during the 18th and 19th Century.

         22                 Finally, it should be noted that even

         23  though the Slave Trade, itself, was officially

         24  ended, abolished in the United States in 1807, New

         25  York City continued to function as the hub of the
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          2  illegal Slave Trade to Cuba and Brazil well into the

          3  1860s.  It should come as no surprise to you then,

          4  given New York's economic dependence on slavery and

          5  the slave trade, that when South Carolina seceded

          6  from the Union in 1861, New York City Mayor Fernando

          7  Wood proposed that the City of New York also secede

          8  and join the Confederacy.

          9                 I do not know if you all heard what I

         10  said.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Maybe you

         12  should repeat it for the record.

         13                 DR. DODSON:  When given New York's

         14  economic dependence on Slavery and the Slave Trade,

         15  when South Carolina seceded from the Union in 1861,

         16  New York City Mayor Fernando Wood proposed that New

         17  York City also secede and join the Confederacy.

         18                 Fortunately, your predecessors, the

         19  members of the New York City Council voted that

         20  proposition down.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  That is one for

         22  us.

         23                 DR. DODSON:  The fact of the matter

         24  is that wherever you look in New York and in New

         25  York City and New York State well into the 1860s
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          2  there were relatively few aspects of its economic,

          3  and to some extent its political and cultural life,

          4  that was not shaped or informed, in some way, by the

          5  Institution of Slavery.

          6                 And the raising of questions about

          7  banks and corporations and all the rest of that,

          8  that will come through in the investigation, the

          9  study that is to be conducted.

         10                 You should know that virtually all of

         11  the banks that date back to the period of Slavery,

         12  beginning with the Bank of New York were, in fact,

         13  involved in Slavery and the Slave Trade in some way.

         14    What we need to know is what was the nature of

         15  that involvement and to what extent are they, in

         16  fact, are we due reparations from them.

         17                 But finally we need to be very, I

         18  mean absolutely clear, and this is where we get a

         19  little bit confused trying to deal with individual

         20  things.  Slavery as an institution was a state and

         21  city created institution.  Our bodies of government

         22  are institutions of the citizens of the society.

         23  And they exercised the then will of the citizens of

         24  the society.  So we cannot blame it on the City on

         25  the one hand, and claim that it is not a part of
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          2  your responsibility.  You cannot say that the state

          3  did it, and not also take into consideration or

          4  acknowledge the fact that the citizens are

          5  responsible for that through their elected officials

          6  or whatever.

          7                 And so as we come to engaging this

          8  subject, yes, we do need to deal with the

          9  corporations, yes, we do need to deal with the

         10  various other kind of businesses, et cetera, banks.

         11  We also need to deal with the City and with the

         12  State in terms of its economic, as well as political

         13  role in both creating these institutions and

         14  fostering their development.

         15                 I sign onto all of the bills that

         16  have been brought forward today, and am especially

         17  concerned that the Commission be established in New

         18  York City so that we can, at least again, get to the

         19  basic truth of our historical experience here in New

         20  York City, so we can make some decisions about what

         21  we want to do with our future.

         22                 I thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

         24  much.

         25                 MS. MEALLY:  I am going to briefly
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          2  make my presentation regarding of the relationship

          3  of the Dutch Settlements up to the period of the

          4  English.

          5                 One would argue that the principles

          6  of liability necessitates more than a cursory

          7  discussion and analysis of the taught thesis

          8  actions, but rather implicit in the arguments are

          9  those questions which give greater consideration

         10  perhaps to the level of suffering sustained by the

         11  victims, their families, their heirs, and their

         12  descendants.

         13                 The period between 1626 and 1664 are

         14  relevant to us here in the Year 2002 because of the

         15  issue of land ownership by Africans who participated

         16  in the building of the very economic foundation of

         17  New York City.  The non- legal status of these

         18  Africans who were brought to New York, as my

         19  colleague has so amply described were employed on

         20  the island as property of the Dutch West Indies

         21  Company.  However, they were granted lots and

         22  property or used the property by permission of the

         23  company, or leased property usually for six years

         24  with the right to permanent tenure.  The maps of the

         25  Dutch Grants show that the first land grants to
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          2  Blacks in addition to identifying the Negro Burial

          3  Ground at 195- 197 Christy Street, the Potter's

          4  Field where our ancestors were buried between

          5  Broadway and Center Streets north of Chambers, which

          6  was the Negro Burial Ground prior to 1775, for which

          7  there still has not been adequate legal protection

          8  from either the City, the State or the Federal

          9  government in assigning adequate protection to the

         10  discovery of these archeological resources or even

         11  the buildings we are sitting in today, stand.

         12                 Where lies the culpability we ask

         13  when land is swindled, when it is stolen,

         14  depreciated or deeded to another entity?  What

         15  happens to the land of its owners, their heirs, or

         16  their descendants when one nation secedes power to

         17  another, whether that transition was done through

         18  wars, or as in the case of the Dutch to the English,

         19   "peacefully?"  So what recourse under the law does

         20  an individual, his heirs or descendants have when an

         21  individual's property is assigned to another

         22  individual, a corporation, or destroyed in the

         23  development process?

         24                 Between 1659 and 1652 (sic) the

         25  Director of the Dutch Colony of New Amsterdam,
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          2  Stuyvesant, confirmed ground reefs to numerous

          3  Africans on land which stretched from the East River

          4  to Broadway as far west as the area we now know as

          5  Upper Manhattan or Spooton Divel, along Pearl

          6  Street, the Bowery, Aster Place, Houston Street,

          7  Bleeker Street, Cooper Square, between 5th an 6th

          8  Streets, and Fourth Avenue.  Today we invoke the

          9  memory of some of those who were given land, who

         10  were emancipated and started families.

         11                 By 1664 there were 300 Africans

         12  slaves here in New Amsterdam and 75 of those

         13  inhabitants were free Blacks.  Many of those

         14  conveyed land were listed as Simon Congo, Gracial

         15  Dangola, her land eventually made its way into the

         16  property of the Trinity Church.  Their farm on the

         17  Upper Side known as Richmond Hill.

         18                 And then there was Root Manuel,

         19  Powell Dangola, Clem Antonio, Big Manuel, Thomas

         20  Hall, William Antoni, Porturgese Peters, Solomon

         21  Peters, William Antonio, Porturgese, Ansanta Angola,

         22  Andy Green, Manuel Deross, Peter Tambora, Francisco

         23  Cartehagar, Delmingo Angola, Clasde Negra, Manuel

         24  Peters and Antoria, his wife.  Immanuel and Dorothy

         25  petition that their child should be declared free
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          2  born which was granted.  And in an entry dated

          3  January 17th, 1641, the Governor Richard Nicole

          4  conferred a deed of Paulo Dangola's being dead, his

          5  interest evolved to his widow, who was named

          6  Dorothy.  Dangola who had since married Manuel

          7  Peters, and according to our archival manuscripts,

          8  Captain John Devries even willed land on March 8th,

          9  1651 to his negroes by names.  Who were Clare Creole

         10  who was married to Paulo Dangola and his estate was

         11  further authorized to "care for his Brazilian woman,

         12  who had fathered his child."

         13                 The labor of these Africans created

         14  and built the towns and forts and farms and family

         15  names such as the Astors, the Abforts, the Bayarts,

         16  the Jansens, the Van Ressnels, the Debrives, the

         17  Kennedy's, the Riecherts, the Delancey's and others

         18  too numerous to mention here, all benefitted.

         19                 The typical grant included a house

         20  and a garden, a lot 1,000 feet to 1,500 and a

         21  section of farmland from five to ten acres.  After

         22  all, the new nation did conveniently embrace and

         23  adopt the English Common Law replenished with all of

         24  its futile attributes.

         25                 Our research, though inclusive, at
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          2  this stage begs the question, how were the

          3  subsequent land transfers made under the British,

          4  and then in many instances granted to the City of

          5  New York and State, itself, or wound up in the

          6  coffers of corporations and wealthy New York land

          7  owners who passed it onto their heirs and

          8  descendants, and not to the heirs and descendants of

          9  the Africans?

         10                 Finally, under both New York and

         11  Federal Law Africans up to a period were free and in

         12  many instances they lost their land, could not buy

         13  or sell, the land was outright confiscated, the

         14  Duke's Law would reign.  And with the enslaved they

         15  were not allowed to own property at all.  What is

         16  the history of the land transfer from the Africans

         17  in the Aster Place area to StarBucks, now on the

         18  corner of Aster Place near Cooper Square, and Cooper

         19  Union, itself, and the Joseph Paps Public Theater

         20  and the Aster Wine Company?

         21                 I end with that thought, duplicated

         22  throughout the City in millions of instances.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

         24  much.  Did you make copies of your testimony, yet?

         25                 MS. MEALLY:  It's unedited at this
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          2  point, but you will get it.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Okay, thank you

          4  very much. The members, I believe, would appreciate

          5  a copy.

          6                 I want to just acknowledge the

          7  presence of another member of the City Council, the

          8  Chairman of our Economic Development Committee,

          9  Council Member James Sanders, Jr.

         10                 I am going to ask one question in

         11  terms of just the focus of this hearing, to a large

         12  extent, has to do with the establishment of a

         13  Commission.  Can you give us your reasons why or why

         14  not such a Commission is appropriate?

         15                 DR. DODSON:  Is it why or why not?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Whichever is

         17  your position.

         18                 DR. DODSON:  Well I said in some of

         19  my opening, the part that I did not present, that

         20  for the last eight or nine years there has been an

         21  International Movement generated by something called

         22  the Slave Root Project of UNESCO.  And its agenda

         23  has been to document the centrality of Slavery and

         24  the Slave Trade and the making of the modern world.

         25  And research of every kind has been going on,
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          2  documentation has been gathered from the four

          3  corners of the Atlantic World, Europe, Africa, and

          4  all of the Americas, documenting the nature and

          5  character of this institution of slavery.

          6                 At the foundation of that has been

          7  this notion that at some point in time the question

          8  of reparations would in fact come forth.  What is

          9  needed in New York City is to particularize this

         10  kind of research to get some understanding of New

         11  York's unique relationship to Slavery and the Slave

         12  Trade, and to begin to establish criteria by which

         13  you can quantify the debt that is owed to the

         14  African people's who were the victims of that

         15  process.

         16                 And a Commission is an ideal way of

         17  gathering that kind of information, quickly, and

         18  making it available not just in the halls of

         19  Congress, but making it available publicly.  This

         20  reparation debate is something that is going to be a

         21  public debate, and it needs to be, the research and

         22  study needs to be carried on in public forums and

         23  made available as broadly to the public so they can

         24  make informed judgements about how it should impact

         25  their lives.
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          2                 MS. MEALLY:  I would concur with my

          3  colleague.  In addition to that, there is a whole

          4  issue of the impact of, a rape upon women, African

          5  women.  And this is an issue has not been brought.

          6  A Commission would be important to look into issues

          7  of gender, and also the question is, as Roger raised

          8  around the question of children.  We are not going

          9  to get that kind of information, we will get it

         10  sporadically, but we need to have an umberelli

         11  (phonetic) in order to be able to justify our moving

         12  forward in this, and to bring together the minds and

         13  the community and those ancestors, those descendants

         14  that we know who are out there, who do not know that

         15  there is an entitlement here.

         16                 And I think that this Council would

         17  play an important role.  And some of the names of

         18  those ancestors that I called out today, will do

         19  nothing more than thank us.

         20                 DR. DODSON:  I would just add, Bill,

         21  that the, this is being carried on as a matter of

         22  public policy.  And the Commission should be

         23  established with an eye towards the policy

         24  implications of its findings.  Other kinds of bodies

         25  that come together and do research, scholars, may in
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          2  fact, get together and come up with some findings,

          3  but they do not necessarily translate it to policy,

          4  and that is, I believe, why such a Commission needs

          5  to be in place.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

          7  much for your testimony and your good work over the

          8  years.

          9                 And I want to call forward our next

         10  panel, which will include Deadria Farmer- Paellman

         11  and Councilman Wendell Foster.

         12                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  Good

         13  afternoon.  Could you each raise your right hand to

         14  be sworn in?  Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

         15  the testimony you are about to give is the whole

         16  truth and nothing but the truth?

         17                 MS. FARMER- PAELLMAN:  I do.

         18                 MR. FOSTER:  I do.

         19                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  For the

         20  record, would you please, each, state your name and

         21  where you are from?

         22                 MS. FARMER- PAELLMAN:  I am Deadria

         23  Farmer- Paellman, and I am a plantiff in a class

         24  action lawsuit filed for reparations from

         25  corporations.
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          2                 MR. FOSTER:  I am Wendell Foster,

          3  Senior Pastor of Christ Church in the Bronx, and a

          4  disgusted, disappointed spectator that sees so few

          5  Caucasian and Latinos here for this hearing.

          6                 MS. FARMER- PAELLMAN:  I am going to

          7  read here from my testimony, but I will submit it.

          8  It is with warm gratitude that I extend my

          9  appreciation to City Councilman Charles Barron,

         10  Governmental Operations Chair, Councilman Bill

         11  Perkins, and the members of the New York City

         12  Council, for your bold leadership toward expanding

         13  the understanding of antebellum slavery in New York

         14  and the debt owed for it, by way of the Queens

         15  Mother Moore Reparations Bill and other bills you

         16  are introducing.

         17                 During the past few decades there has

         18  been much talk about racial healing in this nation,

         19  but limited action toward that goal.  By exposing

         20  the truth about antebellum slavery in New York and

         21  generating dialogue on the issue of atonement for

         22  that crime against humanity, the Commission called

         23  for in this bill will generate action that can help

         24  heal the nation's racial wounds.

         25                 I was invited here to testify about
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          2  research and the lawsuit I am pursuing toward the

          3  goal of healing these wounds. During Black History

          4  Month 2000, I initiated an immediate campaign for

          5  restitution from corporations and private estates

          6  that benefitted from antebellum slavery.  These are

          7  companies that acquired wealth, stealing people,

          8  stealing their labor, raping women, the force

          9  breeding of children and torturing Africans innocent

         10  of no crime.

         11                 Being a descendent of Africans

         12  enslaved in America, I found myself motivated to see

         13  that my ancestors sufferings for building corporate

         14  wealth, be atoned for with humanity long over due.

         15  I began examining this approach while a law student

         16  in 1997, and later on I began approaching tainted

         17  companies asking them to apologize and establish

         18  restitution trust funds to benefit heirs of enslaved

         19  Africans.  Faced with limited success at appealing

         20  to the moral consciousness of these companies, I

         21  joined a team of attorneys and slave descendants in

         22  filing class action lawsuits for reparations.  And

         23  these actions were filed on behalf of all

         24  descendants of people enslaved in the United States.

         25                 Included amongst the plaintiffs are
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          2  Mary Lacey Madison, Andre Carrington, both of New

          3  York, and Richard Barber, who just escorted me here

          4  from New Jersey.  The lawyers included on the suit

          5  are Roger Wareham, who you heard from earlier today;

          6  Joe Mo Thomas, from his firm Thomas, Wareham and

          7  Richards; Ed Fagan from Fagan and Associates; Bruce

          8  Nagel and Diane Sanders of Nagel Rice, Dreyfus and

          9  Mazie.

         10                 For the record, I would just like to

         11  talk about a few of the companies, and

         12  unfortunately, the Councilwoman who had questions

         13  about the companies is not here, but hopefully she

         14  will see the information.  Brown Brothers, Harriman

         15  and Company is the largest bank, private bank in the

         16  United States.  It is a corporation with its

         17  principle place of business located at 59 Wall

         18  Street here in New York City.  It is the successor

         19  corporation to Brown Brothers and Company.  The

         20  bank's founder is James and William Brown built

         21  their merchant bank by lending to Southern Planters,

         22  roping slave grown cotton and acting as a

         23  clearinghouse for the south complex financial

         24  system.  The firmer earned commissions arranging

         25  cotton shipments from Southern ports to Mills in New
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          2  England and Britain.  It also loaned millions

          3  directly to planters, merchants and cotton brokers

          4  throughout the South. Company records also review

          5  that Brown Brothers loaned to plantation owners who

          6  told the firm that they needed the cash to buy

          7  slaves.  When those planters or their banks failed,

          8  it used its local agents to run repossessed

          9  plantations and manage the enslaved Africans working

         10  there.  In other words, they became slave owners.

         11                 Additionally, Brown Brothers in

         12  Richmond from slave labor is further evidenced by

         13  Louisiana Court records dating back to 1840, that

         14  revealed that the firm's ownership of at least two

         15  cotton plantations totaled 4,614 acres and the

         16  plantations 346 slaves.

         17                 New York Life Insurance Company is

         18  another company in the action.  They wrote life

         19  insurance policies on the lives of slaves.

         20                 Fleet Boston Financial Corporation is

         21  a Delaware Company doing business in Massachusetts,

         22  but also doing business here in New York City.

         23                 Aetna Incorporated, another company

         24  named in the actions, principal place of business in

         25  Hartford, Connecticut, but does tremendous amount of
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          2  business here in New York City and most definitely

          3  with New York City government.

          4                 There is a growing contingency of New

          5  Yorkers who believe as I do that multi- million and

          6  billion dollar corporations such as these mentioned,

          7  are trustees of enslaved African descendants

          8  inheritances.

          9                 USA Today, CNN, gallop poll done

         10  early this year showed that 75 percent of African-

         11  Americans and 35 percent of white Americans support

         12  corporations paying restitution for the roles they

         13  played in enslaving Africans in the United States.

         14  I think that is significant.  A lot of people think

         15  that white Americans do not support this.  They

         16  understand, though African- Americans have inherited

         17  the vestige of slavery, we never inherited the

         18  wealth that our ancestors labored two and a half

         19  centuries building. Furthermore, they understand

         20  that no one who plays a role in a crime against

         21  humanity should be allowed to continue to profit

         22  from it.

         23                 It is outrageous that these companies

         24  should remain beneficiaries of money they acquired

         25  doing such horrendous acts. The Queen Mother Moore
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          2  Reparations Bill would create a forum to further

          3  examine this problem and propose resolutions.

          4                 I commend Councilman Barron and

          5  Perkins and the members of the New York City Council

          6  for this important legislation and look forward to

          7  the healing it will foster.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Councilman

         10  Foster.

         11                 REV. FOSTER:  Thank you for allowing

         12  me to speak. It's good sitting on this side of the

         13  table.  I opened by saying that I was disappointed

         14  that there were so few Caucasian members and Latino

         15  members here for this hearing, but that does not

         16  surprise me, that is an improvement over what we

         17  used to have, when we talked about, on issues

         18  related to the African- American community.

         19                 When think of reparations, first of

         20  all, they said name some of the companies or

         21  organizations.  One of the biggest was the Roman

         22  Catholic Church, and the Church of England, Trinity

         23  Church did not get rich just because someone gave

         24  them the land, they had slaves.

         25                 Why is this called Wall Street?
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          2  Because we were only allowed to be buried under

          3  certain part of the wall, across the wall.

          4                 And so when you go back to the East,

          5  who is responsible, George Town University, built by

          6  slaves, enslaved by the Jesuits.  The Jesuits used

          7  slaves to build George Town University, which in my

          8  opinion, every African- American applied for George

          9  Town University should be allowed to go there free

         10  of charge.

         11                 As stated previously, Brown

         12  University, built by the two brothers who did more

         13  and financed more slave buying and selling than

         14  anyone in the history of this nation.  If you are

         15  talking about who is responsible, let's go back to

         16  George Washington, who himself never told a lie, but

         17  told Richard Allen the  Foundling (phonetic) Church,

         18    that if they join in fighting for freedom from

         19  England, he would free the slaves.  Well he did, in

         20  his will when he died, he freed them by willing them

         21  to his wife.  So he never told a lie.

         22                 Go back to everyone of the founding

         23  fathers on a tour of a poll of slavery, Benjamin

         24  Franklin and Dr. Benjamin Rush, all the rest of them

         25  supported slavery.
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          2                 Come down to the Presidents, only one

          3  President in the early period opposed slavery and

          4  that was John Quincy Adams, all others owned slaves,

          5  not only enslaved slaves, but impregnated their

          6  slaves and sold their own children.  Thomas

          7  Jefferson is a good example.  My country tis of

          8  thee.

          9                 Then you think of during our time, we

         10  have fought, every fight for liberation in this

         11  country has been led by or have been a part, the

         12  African- American a great part of it from  Aztecs on

         13  down.  When you think of World War II that more

         14  Blacks were killed, soldiers killed by white

         15  soldiers in this country, than died overseas

         16  fighting for the so- called democracy.

         17                 Championed by one of the greatest

         18  racists that this country ever produced, a man by

         19  the name of Woodrow Wilson.  You go a little

         20  further, Mr. Chairman, I am going to come to a

         21  close, you go a little further down, you think of

         22  all these Presidents until Harry Truman became

         23  President, no other President ever spoke out against

         24  racism, against violence, against lynching.

         25  Roosevelt did not do it.  In fact, Roosevelt
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          2  promoted the Governor of South Carolina who opposed

          3  Dr. Lane, the Marshall in desegregating the South

          4  Carolina schools, and made him an assistant to the

          5  President of the United States, and then later made

          6  him Secretary of State. Roosevelt never opposed the

          7  mistreatment of Blacks, and would not sign on for an

          8  anti- lynching bill, felt it was unconstitutional.

          9  In fact, Woodrow Wilson and Roosevelt always said,

         10  like Peter Vallone, it's not time, we do not have

         11  the money, let's wait later.

         12                 Well we have waited for World War I,

         13  waited for World War II, waited for the Korean War,

         14  waited every fist fight and dog fight, and it is

         15  time to stop waiting.

         16                 I'm suggesting, Mr. Chairman and

         17  Committee, that we need to just recess and reconvene

         18  in our own neighborhoods, since you are not going to

         19  get the support of the larger community anyway.  And

         20  organize our people, remember what Frederick

         21  Douglass said, organize, organize, agitate, agitate.

         22    If it means we have got to stop paying taxes, if

         23  it means we have got to stop and be rebellious

         24  people, it is time we stop allowing other folks

         25  coming from Europe and other places to get rich on
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          2  our backs and then feel apologetic because we were

          3  fighting for something that is rightfully ours.

          4                 You are sitting right now on land

          5  where slaves are buried.  My school, Columbia

          6  University built by slave labor.  Old Saint

          7  Patrick's Cathedral down a few blocks from here, by

          8  slave labor, and yet, we are saying it is not time.

          9  The budget, we have always been penalized by

         10  budgets.  We were penalized by the cotton budget.

         11  When Eli Whitney gave us the cotton gin, they

         12  penalized us.  We were penalized by the peanut

         13  budget in South Carolina.  And as long as you are

         14  Black and in this country and continue to take the

         15  crap that has been dished out to you, you are going

         16  to get it.

         17                 So I say it is time for reparations,

         18  it is past time, if they do not give it to us, let's

         19  take it by any means necessary.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  I want to ask,

         22  so I guess you are for a Commission?

         23                 REV. FOSTER:  I'm for more than a

         24  Commission.  You see it is phony to say and it is

         25  down right hypercritical to say you are against a

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            103

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  Commission.  How can you be against a Commission of

          3  Study?  You study AIDS, you study venereal disease,

          4  you study cockroaches, you study mosquitoes, why

          5  can't you study what is being done and has been done

          6  to human beings?  It is a disguise form of

          7  apologizing for my own racism.

          8                 Yes, I am for it.  And going beyond

          9  the study, how long, as Doctor King said, too long.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Council Member

         11  Sanders.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Sir, I

         13  really wanted to take a break between the Reverend

         14  Doctor speaking and myself, there is so much power

         15  in the room, I'm a little, I thought I saw that

         16  statue in back of you start looking for the door,

         17  Sir.

         18                 REV. FOSTER:  It should not have been

         19  there in the first place.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Right.

         21                 REV. FOSTER:  All these signs and

         22  statues in here, they glorify racism - -

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Well we are

         24  working on it, Sir, we are working on it.  It is

         25  good to see you back, Sir.  You know, we really
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          2  should put you in that little seat up there with the

          3  star up there, but you might mess around and want to

          4  put different colors up there, so I'm kind of scared

          5  about that.

          6                 I want to commend you, Mr. Chair, for

          7  a historic hearing that we are having.  I have to,

          8  of course, commend Council Member Barron and the

          9  Chair for their leadership on these things. Do not

         10  fool yourself and think that these people are not

         11  going to pay for this.  So just as you are with them

         12  now, I really urge that you stay close to them a

         13  little later, because that is all right, that is all

         14  right, so we will pay for this.  We have been paying

         15  for a little bit more in America that is not very

         16  new.

         17                 We still have a lot of work to do on

         18  this particular issue, and I commend you, my sister,

         19  for going out there and taking it through their

         20  courts and saying, okay, let's see if you can deal

         21  with the truth, even in these skewed courts, even in

         22  the system that seems determined in sheer

         23  technicalities to try to dismiss these claims.  I

         24  believe that the truth is just so powerful that it

         25  will just force its way through in spite of, and not

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            105

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  because of.

          3                 We have a lot of work to do on these

          4  issues and the issues of political prisoners also.

          5  But we are moving.

          6                 Now Councilman Barron this issue

          7  seems to remind me of another issue that keeps

          8  coming up, predatory lending.  It seems that, now if

          9  I understand this thing, and I'm a little slow, but

         10  that is all right, and work with me, the predatory

         11  lenders say that it is not them that benefitted,

         12  they did not go out there and make the loan

         13  themselves.  They did not go out there and snatch

         14  and kidnap people and bring them over here.  They

         15  did not say they bought anyone directly, or they did

         16  not put by the house directly. They just said that

         17  the money was washed, they do not use wash, what do

         18  they call it?  The money was processed a little

         19  further. You and I try that on the street and they

         20  call it money laundering, all right.  The money was

         21  processed a little further and they got, it's all

         22  mixed now.  And the same is perhaps these banks

         23  where they are saying we did not buy them directly,

         24  we just bought the loan that bought the people in,

         25  therefore, you cannot look at us because our hands

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            106

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  are clean.

          3                 It seems to me that these are

          4  predators and it seems to me that we may not be able

          5  to do something directly to the predators of

          6  yesterday.  But we need to honor these people with

          7  the predators of today also, and stop some of that

          8  from going on.

          9                 The UN in its wisdom has declared

         10  mass rape as one of the crimes against humanity, and

         11  certainly that was long over due.  I, among others,

         12  are here just to say today that there is no statute

         13  of limitations concerning crimes against humanity.

         14  And this is the point that we need to just to

         15  remember.  When everybody says its yesterday, so was

         16  Hilter's Germany.  That is yesterday, but there are

         17  some things that are so horrendous that the world

         18  has to say until we make this thing right, there is

         19  no statute of limitation against these crimes.

         20                 So I'm glad to be here today and to

         21  support the leadership of such bold pioneers.  Thank

         22  you very much.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

         24  much.  Thank you all very much for your hard, hard

         25  work, your continued leadership and as a member of
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          2  the City Council, once a Council member, always a

          3  Council member.  Thank you.

          4                 And he has not changed, the same

          5  Councilman, Councilman Foster.

          6                 Let me, you are not going to hear

          7  from Dr. Leonard Jeffries of the City College of New

          8  York; and Professor James Small.

          9                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  Good

         10  afternoon.  Could you each raise your right hand to

         11  be sworn in?  Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

         12  the testimony you are about to give is the whole

         13  truth and nothing but the truth?

         14                 DR. JEFFRIES:  Yes.

         15                 MR. SMALL:  Yes.

         16                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  Thank you.

         17    For the record, could you each state your name and

         18  where you are from?

         19                 DR. JEFFRIES:  Doctor Leonard

         20  Jeffries, currently Professor of Africana Studies

         21  and Political Science, City College of the City

         22  University of New York.

         23                 MR. SMALL:  James Small, formerly 18

         24  years, Professor at City College Black Studies, and

         25  New York City Technical School in Brooklyn, Black
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          2  Studies Department.  Currently, the Vice- President

          3  of the Organization of Afro- American Unity founded

          4  by the late Malcolm X.

          5                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  As you

          6  wish, either one of you may begin.

          7                 MR. SMALL:  You are the senior.

          8                 DR. JEFFRIES:  My young brother as

          9  deferred to me because of age.  As an elder of the

         10  African community, I take this opportunity to thank

         11  the leadership of the Council for bringing this

         12  important, critical question to the world community.

         13    This is truly an historic day and a historic time,

         14  and I want to congratulate them.

         15                 I also want to pledge to them, to

         16  bring to bear to support your work a whole host of

         17  scholars around the world that I am intimately

         18  connected with.  This enormous scholarship, which is

         19  located in the Caribbean, in Brazil, in Paris, in

         20  Africa, in London, in Amsterdam, will be made

         21  available to your Commission. I do not think that we

         22  should spend as much time as we have spent in trying

         23  to make those who oppose reparations comfortable.

         24  We spend a little bit too much time on the honorable

         25  Peter Vallone, Jr.  We need to deal with the issue
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          2  because there is so much work to be done.

          3                 A few years ago I had a half of a

          4  million dollar grant in the early seventies to

          5  support Alex Haley's work on Roots. As a result of

          6  that grant, 25 to 30 scholars from around the world

          7  were brought into connection and produced monumental

          8  research on the enslavement of Africans.  I have in

          9  my hand one of the many hundreds of volumes we have

         10  available for the Commission.  And this particular

         11  volume is part of a four- volume set documents

         12  illustrative of the history of the Slave Trade to

         13  America by Elizabeth Donnan.  This is dealing with

         14  the 18th Century, the volumes go back to the 1400s.

         15  They list the names, places, the dates, they list

         16  letters from slave captains, slave owners giving

         17  them instructions.  They list the companies that

         18  were involved, the nations that were involved.  And

         19  I think it is important for us to put this

         20  historical document and record together.

         21                 Sitting here in this Council, as I

         22  looked around, and I saw George Washington, who I am

         23  as a young man and growing up in this nation told,

         24  was worried about whether he told a lie or not about

         25  a Cherry Tree.  I do not give a damn about a Cherry
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          2  Tree in reference to George Washington.  I want to

          3  know how many enslaved Africans he had on his slave

          4  plantation in Mount Vernon.  And why in founding a

          5  new nation, breaking away from the oppression of the

          6  English they institutionalized an enslavement

          7  process of our people?

          8                 I do not want to hear nothing about

          9  Thomas Jefferson, who I think we have up here.

         10  Equal and exact, justice to all men of whatever

         11  state or persuasion.  I think we need to clarify

         12  that.  Thomas Jefferson was talking about rich,

         13  white men; he was not talking about poor, white men;

         14  he was not talking about white women; he was not

         15  talking about Native Americans, and he certainly was

         16  not talking about enslaved Africans because he had

         17  two or three plantations with enslaved Africans.  At

         18  the time he was writing a Declaration of

         19  Independence, talking about all men are created

         20  equal, endowed by their Creator with certain

         21  inalienable rights, among these, life, liberty and

         22  the pursuit of negroes, I mean, and the pursuit of

         23  happiness.

         24                 We need to look up front, and here we

         25  have a government of the people, by the people, for
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          2  the people.  We need to clarify that, I wish Peter

          3  Vallone was here, because my clarification is clear.

          4    We are talking about a government of white, rich,

          5  white people, by rich, white people, for rich, white

          6  people.

          7                 And certainly, Abraham Lincoln was

          8  not an emancipator.  If you want know a Black

          9  emancipator, you have got Harriet Tubbman, you have

         10  got Frederick Douglass, you got your great-

         11  grandparents and mine.

         12                 If you want a white emancipator, you

         13  have Senator Charles Sumner, you have the

         14  Congressman who fought diligently, Stevens, for our

         15  rights.  You have John Brown who fought and died for

         16  our emancipation.  Abraham Lincoln did not

         17  emancipate a soul, the Emancipation Proclamation was

         18  a trick, it was a war measure to arm Black folks to

         19  participate in the freedom of other enslaved

         20  Africans and themselves and to save this nation.

         21                 It has finally been put to pen and

         22  pencil, our great brother, Leron Bennett has written

         23  an outstanding work over a thousand pages dealing

         24  with the legacy of Abraham Lincoln, we need to put

         25  it to rest.  The book is called, "Forced Into Glory:
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          2  Abraham Lincoln's White Dream."  He wanted to use

          3  Black folks to help save the nation, and his plan

          4  was to ship us out of America, not to enjoy any of

          5  the fruits of the sacrifices that our people made.

          6                 We need to clarify the issue for

          7  Peter Vallone, if you are going to deal with the

          8  Civil War, be careful.  If you are going to deal

          9  with the Civil War, be careful, if you are going to

         10  talk about the draft and people who fought, be

         11  careful.  A half a million to a million white folks

         12  deserted the Union Army because they did not wish to

         13  fight in the war.  Immigrants in New York,

         14  particularly Irish immigrants in New York, in 1863

         15  opposing the draft riots in this very space that we

         16  are in rioted against the African community,

         17  vandalized, terrorized the African community, burned

         18  the colored orphanage, and murdered and maimed

         19  hundreds of our people, and they had to escape from

         20  Manhattan to Brooklyn.  And at that time in 1863,

         21  there was no Brooklyn Bridge, there was no Manhattan

         22  Bridge, there was no Williamsburg Bridge, they had

         23  to get across any way they could to save themselves

         24  and get into the arms of the Black community in

         25  Weeksville to help protect them.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            113

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 There is a history, there is a

          3  reparations document that should be brought directly

          4  on the City of New York in reference to the

          5  devastation of the Black community in 1863.  This

          6  history we cannot forget, this history is

          7  documented, we have a sacred obligations to raise it

          8  and lay it out for our people.

          9                 Thank you very much.

         10                 MR. SMALL:  Dr. Jeffries went over

         11  the race riots. But I think the thing that is

         12  important is that every state in this country, New

         13  York included, New York City included, backed up the

         14  institution of slavery by law, and defended it in

         15  their courts.  We also know that the religious

         16  institutions in New York supported slavery using the

         17  Bible, especially in the opposition to the

         18  abolitionist movement in New York.  New York's

         19  religious leaders attacked on more than one

         20  occasions covered in the newspapers of New York, the

         21  abolitionist movement for being blasphemous against

         22  the Bible, because they said Isaac, Esau and Jacob

         23  owned slaves. And this is a matter of public record.

         24                 But the slavery we ended in our

         25  glorious participation, the 200 plus thousand that
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          2  fought in the Union uniform, and the millions that

          3  fought to sabotage behind the lines, we ended

          4  slavery in America.  The Gettysburg is quite a

          5  distance past Washington, D.C.  The North had, the

          6  South had put themselves in position to militarily

          7  win that war, when we were introduced into that war.

          8    Had not Black troops been introduced into that

          9  war, we would all be whistling Dixie now.  And we

         10  need to be very clear, we won that war, that was our

         11  war of liberation, and people need to understand

         12  that.

         13                 We also need to be clear that slavery

         14  did not end in 1865, it became de facto institution

         15  in terms of the Black codes, in terms of

         16  sharecropping, in terms of Jim Crow, in terms of

         17  segregation that lasted to this day in New York.

         18  This is one of the most segregated City in America,

         19  even now.  And we pretend, we call it de facto

         20  segregation, but the institutions that determined

         21  and defended redlining, the institutions that

         22  determined and defended where we could live, came

         23  right out of the slave behavior of the white

         24  population.  And the segregation that is New York

         25  City today, is a result of slavery in the State and
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          2  City of New York. So we have to really understand

          3  that slavery has not yet ended in America.  And it

          4  certainly has not yet ended in New York.

          5                 And we saw it with the Board of

          6  Education that was made up of the minority white

          7  population when there were children that were in the

          8  schools were from the majority Black and Latin

          9  population.  And then our children not being

         10  prepared to be able to function to provide food,

         11  clothing, shelter and safety and security for

         12  themselves, because the ideology, the value system,

         13  the world view of the slave master's children

         14  dominate the possibility and the opportunity of the

         15  enslaved children.

         16                 And so we need to understand that

         17  slavery created a situation, it destroyed the

         18  language, it destroyed the culture, it denied the

         19  history.  It over inflated a false history of the

         20  white population, so that today the world view of

         21  African children being dominated by an educational

         22  system that is controlled by the enslavers' children

         23  have a view of the world that is unrealistic. And

         24  that the enslavers' children who would like to say

         25  and I have heard it said often, well we were not
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          2  here, that is fine, I will vindicate you.  You give

          3  me all the privilege, all the opportunities, all of

          4  the monies, all of the advantages that you gained

          5  from having been the children or grandchildren of

          6  mine slavers, and I will let you off the hook.  If

          7  you are not prepared to do that, if you are not

          8  prepared to accept your responsibility, then we will

          9  have to do whatever we will have to do.

         10                 But I think we have to understand

         11  that slavery never ended.  You have got to count the

         12  Black codes, you have got to count the Jim Crow, you

         13  have got to count segregation, you have got to count

         14  the so- called Northern de facto segregation.  You

         15  have got to count the fact that the Ku Klux Klan has

         16  killed more African Americans and American citizens

         17  than Bin Laden, and yet, is not declared a terrorist

         18  organization.  You have got to begin to look at

         19  organized crime in America that use drugs and other

         20  means to control our community economically, yet,

         21  organized crime is declared a terrorist

         22  organization.  And so we need to be very clear.

         23  Slavery is alive and well, it is simply changed its

         24  form and mannerism.

         25                 And so we are here to say, we are not
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          2  just here to talk about reparations, we are also

          3  talking about the repairing of our cultural

          4  institution, of our linguistic institution, of our

          5  spiritual institution, and we want to finally bring

          6  slavery to an end.

          7                 And I want to commend this Council

          8  leadership and comrades from struggle, both Barron

          9  and Perkins and those who support you on this

         10  Council very strongly.  You are very courageous, and

         11  when they do come for you, we will stand with you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

         13  much for your testimony and your patience.  I know

         14  you had a while to wait, and I also want to thank

         15  you for your years of work on this issue, as well as

         16  on the whole movement for liberation of people of

         17  color, especially the African- American community.

         18                 MR. SMALL:  Thank you, Sir.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  We have our

         20  next panel, will be Delois Blakely and Ajamu K.

         21  Sankofa.

         22                 DR. BLAKELY:  Good afternoon.

         23                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  Good

         24  afternoon.  Would you each raise your right hand to

         25  be sworn in?  Do you, each, solemnly swear or affirm
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          2  that the testimony you are about to give is the

          3  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          4                 DR. BLAKELY:  I do.

          5                 MS. ROOTS:  Yes, I do.

          6                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  For the

          7  record, please state your name and your affiliation?

          8    And you may proceed as you wish, thank you.

          9                 DR. BLAKELY:  I am Dr. Delois

         10  Blakely, the Community Mayor of Harlem, and I carry

         11  the legacy of Queen Mother Moore. Queen Mother Moore

         12  carried reparation for 79 years, and Queens Mother

         13  Moore will be very proud, your honor Chairperson,

         14  and brother Charles Barron for being so courageous

         15  to have this historical moment in time.  Queen

         16  Mother Moore spirit is in this room and it is a very

         17  powerful moment for all of us to witness this day.

         18                 Being involved with Queen Mother for

         19  20 years, her words, reparation, reparation,

         20  reparations now, and it is important that we

         21  remember that.

         22                 Before the World Conference on Racism

         23  in Durban, South Africa, Queen Mother Blueprint has

         24  been laid out over these 79 years and we, at the

         25  United Nations, was able to give our statement to
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          2  the High Commissioner, Mary Robertson and to the

          3  Secretary General, Kofia Nan (phonetic), the

          4  concerns on the path of reparations in the

          5  International Community.

          6                 The concern, Reparations:  Apology

          7  and Forgiveness, and the document we would like to

          8  just pass it out to you, instead of reading it to

          9  you.  In it, it basically states, that the greatest

         10  holocaust, the greatest atrocities ever done against

         11  human kind has been the African descendent, the

         12  middle passage, millions, which we cannot even

         13  calculate that perish in the Slave tracking.

         14                 Today, in the spirit of Queen Mother,

         15  we come and we plead for this body to take up from a

         16  righteous position, from a true position to pay back

         17  the damage that has been done to a group of people.

         18                 If Queen Mother was here, I'm sure

         19  she would say, it is not time for a study, but it is

         20  time for a pay back, reparations, reparations,

         21  reparations now.  And I move to just leave that in

         22  the consciousness of the Council and the leadership

         23  of this Council to remember this in your

         24  deliberation on reparation.

         25                 We move toward Washington, D.C. For a
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          2  rally in August, but we go beyond that, we move in

          3  2003 to the United Nations and calling on the

          4  International Community, and with the City of New

          5  York in the proper and sits in the seat of the

          6  United Nation here in New York to be a part the

          7  discussion or the deliberation from around the world

          8  calling on reparation for a people who has been

          9  displaced within the human family.  And at this time

         10  do not have a voice, and we are calling on the

         11  International Community to give us the world voice

         12  so we can deliberate on reparation, reparation,

         13  reparation, and I thank you.

         14                 MS. ROOTS:  Honorable Council

         15  members, in particular, Charles Barron and William

         16  Perkins, I bring you greetings.  My name is Linda

         17  Roots, and I am a member of the Executive Board of

         18  the Corona/East Elmhurst Branch NAACP, advisor to

         19  its dynamic Youth Council, which is growing.  I am

         20  also the First Vice- President of the Macon B. Allen

         21  Black Bar Association, and recently elected Co-

         22  Chair of the New York Metro Area Chapter of N'COBRA

         23  with my Co- Chair Ajamu Sankofa, who had to leave as

         24  N'COBRA is having their national conference

         25  beginning tomorrow in Detroit.
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          2                 I was scheduled to deliver testimony

          3  on behalf of the NAACP, it is brief and to the point

          4  on Resolutions 41, 92 and 217.  However, as Ajamu's

          5  name was called, I would like to deliver his

          6  testimony, which is the testimony of the New York

          7  Metro Chapter of N'COBRA.

          8                  "Building on the consistent work

          9  over numerous decades by many Reparations

         10  organizations and activists, Imari Obadele of the

         11  Republic of New Africa issued a call in 1987 at the

         12  Annual Conventional of the National Conference of

         13  Black Lawyers for these activists and organizations

         14  to come to Washington, D.C. To develop a definitive

         15  campaign for reparations for Black people of Africa

         16  descent in the United States.

         17                 They responded and founded the

         18  National Coalition of Blacks for Reparations in

         19  America the following year in Washington, D.C.

         20  Queen Mother Moore was present at N'COBRA's first

         21  Conventional held in 1990.  The power of her

         22  presence and leadership was the fabric that unified

         23  us all.  This Juneteenth week, on June 21st, N'COBRA

         24  will hold its 13th annual convention in Detroit,

         25  Michigan.
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          2                 N'COBRA is proud to announce that it

          3  now has 21 certified N'COBRA Chapters throughout the

          4  United States.  They include two in New York City

          5  located in Brooklyn and Queens.  Nine more Chapters

          6  are currently completing the Chapter certification

          7  process.  This brings our total of 30 active N'COBRA

          8  organizing units in the Black communities throughout

          9  this country.  As a Coalition of both individuals

         10  and organizations, N'COBRA now has a membership of

         11  over 20,000 members.

         12                 On November 20th, 1989 after many

         13  months of consultation and collaboration with

         14  N'COBRA, US Congressman, John Conyers of Detroit,

         15  Michigan, introduced H.R. 40 to the US House of

         16  Representatives.  It was the first and remains the

         17  only Reparations Study Bill for African descendants

         18  introduce to the US Congress.

         19                 Indeed, not since Reconstruction, has

         20  a Bill for Reparations been introduced to the US

         21  Congress, H.R. 40 has become the standard by which

         22  all other Reparations Bills or Reparations Study

         23  Bills throughout the United States have or will be

         24  modeled. New York City Resolution No. 41 in honor of

         25  Queen Mother Moore properly advances this work in
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          2  New York City by requiring a keen focus on the

          3  specific injuries and remedies of African descendent

          4  people in New York City.

          5                 Accordingly, N'COBRA enthusiastically

          6  support Resolution No. 41 that establishes, among

          7  other things, a Task Force to hold hearings, conduct

          8  research and recommend compensation to the African

          9  descendent community of New York City for the debt

         10  owed them for the enslavement of their African

         11  ancestors during the colonial and post- colonial

         12  periods in New York City.

         13                 As indicated by an earlier

         14  correspondence to Councilman Barron dated April 4th,

         15  2002, that is attached, N'COBRA recommends

         16  additional language.  The goal is to ensure that the

         17  concept of preventable measures be included, that a

         18  date certain be provided by which time the Taste

         19  Force shall be created and a schedule for the timely

         20  release of progress reports to the public on its

         21  work, that the name used to describe those who are

         22  injured today by the vestiges of slavery be

         23  consistent with the name used in the UN Declaration

         24  produced by the World Conference Against Racism in

         25  Durban, South Africa, and finally that a whereas
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          2  paragraph be added to describe the post-

          3  construction 865 role and impact of New York City

          4  Government and New York City- based private

          5  enterprises of unjustly enriching themselves by

          6  practicing systemic racism, it, itself, a vestige of

          7  slavery.

          8                 With respect to New York City

          9  Resolution No. 92, N'COBRA respectfully acknowledges

         10  that Reparations Awareness Day was created by

         11  N'COBRA in 1992.  It has been organized and

         12  celebrated at the grassroots by N'COBRA local

         13  Chapters all across the United State, most recently

         14  in Harlem, New York City where New York City

         15  Councilman Charles Barron was a featured speaker and

         16  New York City Councilman Bill Perkins was present.

         17  For the past ten years N'COBRA has recognized

         18  February 25th as Reparations Awareness Day in

         19  commemoration of the African descendent students who

         20  organized massive sit- ins in Alabama in 1960.

         21  N'COBRA enthusiastically supports the recognition of

         22  Reparations Awareness Day by the City Council of New

         23  York City.

         24                 However, we respectfully request that

         25  the City Council recognize February 25th as
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          2  Reparations Awareness Day to honor Black youth

          3  resistance to the vestiges of slavery within the

          4  United States and to support the enormous

          5  reparations organizing momentum that has already

          6  been created by February 25th throughout the Untied

          7  States and in previous years the Reparation

          8  Awareness Day has been recognized in New York City.

          9                 N'COBRA has a profound amount of

         10  respect for the ground breaking historical research

         11  initiated by Deadria Farmer Paellman.  Ms. Farmer-

         12  Paellman had interned for N'COBRA and N'COBRA

         13  assisted her, at one point with her research.

         14  Accordingly, there remains a deep mutual and

         15  professional respect between Ms. Farmer Paellman and

         16  N'COBRA.

         17                 N'COBRA's position is that it

         18  considers comment or the appearance of comment by a

         19  legislative body on the merits of any pending

         20  litigation to be highly inappropriate.

         21  Consequently, for that reason, N'COBRA can not

         22  support Resolution No. 217.

         23                 However, N'COBRA enthusiastically

         24  supports the unassailable concept contained in

         25  Resolution No. 217 that litigation in US Courts is a
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          2  viable strategy to right the historic wrong

          3  committed by the enslavement of African people.

          4                 Finally, N'COBRA applauds this City

          5  Council for considering the profound human rights

          6  issue represented by the just demand for

          7  Reparations.  Let this Council be remembered in

          8  history for having done the right thing by placing

          9  itself on the side of justice and on the side of

         10  human freedom."

         11                 Thank you for allowing me to read

         12  Ajamu's statement. And as I am on the calendar to

         13  speak, I would just like to move into the NAACP

         14  statement, which is very brief.

         15                 Today, I have the honor of coming

         16  before this distinguished body representing the

         17  Metropolitan Council of NAACP Branches.  The

         18  Metropolitan Council, led by Hilda Rogers, is

         19  comprised of 16 NAACP branches in the City of New

         20  York, along with 6 Youth Councils and a total of

         21  some 15,000 members citywide.

         22                 I can speak from first hand

         23  experience and say that the NAACP is proud of its

         24  involvement in the reparations movement and has not

         25  ignored the hip hop generation.  In preparation of
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          2  the World Conference Against Racism, NAACP Youth

          3  Council members held their own preparatory

          4  conference at York College in May of 2001 and these

          5  youth have written on and tackled many problems

          6  which the reparations movement seeks to address.  As

          7  early as April of this year, the connection between

          8  the inequities and injuries visited upon African

          9  Descendent youth by the system misnamed the

         10   "Juvenile Justice System" and reparations was

         11  discussed in depth to an overflow workshop of youth

         12  from 9 northeastern state at the Regional Training

         13  Institute of the NAACP in Philadelphia.

         14                 It is the position of the

         15  Metropolitan Council of NAACP Branches that this

         16  training of youth in the hip hop generation around

         17  the issue of reparations, both national and

         18  international, can only be enhanced by a resolution

         19  celebrating Reparation Awareness Day and recognizing

         20  the Trans- Atlantic Slave Trade and Slavery as

         21  crimes against humanity.  It is our hope that in

         22  adopting a Reparation Awareness Day Resolution, the

         23  date would be consistent with that which has been

         24  celebrated for the past 10 years around the country,

         25  namely February 25th, which is a date selected to
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          2  honor students who organized sit- ins in Alabama in

          3  1960.  This would forge a natural link between the

          4  hip hop generation and those youth who struggled in

          5  the past, as part of the NAACP and other

          6  organizations for civil rights.

          7                 The NAACP, formed in 1909 and the

          8  oldest extant civil rights organization in the

          9  United States, at its 1997 National Convention

         10  adopted a standing resolution in support of the work

         11  of Congressman Conyers and the proposed Commissioner

         12  to Study Reparations Proposals for African-

         13  Americans Act, H.R. 40.  That 1997 resolution was

         14  reaffirmed at the 1999 NAACP National Convention

         15  along with the call to support research and

         16  development of litigation in the event that H.R. 40

         17  was not passed or failed to provide reparations to

         18  African- Americans.  Since the 1997 resolution is a

         19  standing resolution and H.R. 40 has been stalled,

         20  the pursuit of litigation, a tool which the NAACP

         21  has used successfully countless time in pursuit of

         22  civil rights, is an obvious necessity as one of the

         23  tools to secure reparations for African Descendants.

         24                 With respect to Resolution 41, the

         25  Metropolitan council of NAACP Branches joins with
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          2  others here today in urging the establishment of a

          3  Queen Mother Moore Reparations for Descendants of

          4  African of New York City Task Force other do the

          5  work necessary to establish the depth and breath of

          6  the injuries suffered by African Descendants

          7  residing in New York City and to begin to frame the

          8  extent and nature of the repair necessary.  I urge,

          9  on behalf of the 15,000 plus individuals represented

         10  by the Metropolitan Council, that Resolution 41

         11  contain language acknowledging governmental and

         12  private enrichment in New York City gained at the

         13  expense of African descendants even after the legal

         14  end of enslavement and continuing systemic racism at

         15  every level of life today, as well as language

         16  addressing preventative measures and the

         17  establishment of some firm timetables for reporting

         18  on and completing this segment of the work necessary

         19  to the attainment of reparations.

         20                 In light of the adoption of a

         21  resolution in 2000 and in 2001, at the past two

         22  NAACP National Conventions, supporting the

         23  international and national work of Africans and

         24  African descendants in connection with the World

         25  Conference Against Racism held in Durban last summer

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            130

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  and our continuing reparations struggle, the

          3  Metropolitan Council finds it logical and natural to

          4  support the local initiatives discussed here today,

          5  as they represent yet another historic step towards

          6  obtaining the human rights and benefits so justly

          7  due African descendants on the shores of the United

          8  States.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

         11  much for your testimony.  And I would also like to

         12  acknowledge the Reparations' Apology and Forgiveness

         13  document that, statement that Dr. Delois Blakely

         14  handed to us, and it will be definitely entered into

         15  the record.  Thank you very much.

         16                 DR. BLAKELY:  Thank you.  Also, Mr.

         17  Chairman, I just wanted to state for the record that

         18  January 31st, in the US Federal Court education

         19  reparations for our children being miseducated $100

         20  million at Martin Luther King School, there is a

         21  class action that has been filed.  And I just want

         22  to make sure that current reparation for our

         23  children who are being miseducated and mismanagement

         24  as well as safety in terms of being protected in the

         25  environment of learning for them, in the spirit of
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          2  Queen Mother Moore it was filed.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

          4  much.  I appreciate that.

          5                 DR. BLAKELY:  Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  I want to call

          7  our next panel, Marion Davis, Michael Hooper, Reggie

          8  Mabry, and last, but not least, this will be a three

          9  person panel, it will be our last panel, Reverend

         10  Johnny Lee Johnson.  Therefore, it will be a two

         11  person panel.  Thank you very much.

         12                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  Good

         13  afternoon.  Would you each raise your right hand to

         14  be sworn in?  Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

         15  the testimony you are about to give is the whole

         16  truth and nothing but the truth?

         17                 MS. DAVIS:  Yes.

         18                 MR. MABRY:  I do.

         19                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  Thank you.

         20    Would you each state your name and affiliation for

         21  the record?

         22                 MS. DAVIS:  My name is Marion Davis,

         23  and I am representing my people, the African people,

         24  and no particular group I represent.

         25                 MR. MABRY:  My name is Reggie Mabry.
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          2  I representing my family and my people.

          3                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  Thank you.

          4    Please proceed as you wish.

          5                 MS. DAVIS:  Okay, I would just like

          6  to make the statement that my people, the people of

          7  African descent are the only race of people whose

          8  culture, language, taken from their homeland and

          9  brought to a new country and brought as slaves, not

         10  knowing their history, not knowing their names,

         11  given the slave master names, fighting for this

         12  country in every war, dying for this country and

         13  coming back to this country, because I had an uncle

         14  that came back World War II not able to enjoy the

         15  freedoms that they were fighting for, for other

         16  people.  Came back here could not go where they

         17  wanted to, live where they wanted to, stay where

         18  they wanted to.

         19                 This country now is still in this

         20  same order, nothing really has changed.  And we need

         21  to recognize, and if Mr. Vallone was here, for him

         22  to also know, and I know he knows this, and for

         23  others that know how we have been treated, and to

         24  say about having a Commission.  And as Professor

         25  Jeffries said, it is time out now for having a
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          2  Commission.  It is knowing what happened to my

          3  people.  It is knowing, it is not a secret, and it

          4  is time to tell the truth as it has been stated here

          5  for the truth to be told, and to recognize and give

          6  African people their due.

          7                 That is all I have to say.

          8                 MR. MABRY:  Good evening, Council

          9  members.  My name, again, is Reggie A. Mabry.  I am

         10  especially proud of the Council members that called

         11  this important hearing on this date Juneteenth to

         12  begin the process that this City needs to do for

         13  reparations.

         14                 I was born in segregated Virginia in

         15  1965.  I am the son of Alfred and Gloria Mabry,

         16  father born in Halifax, North Carolina, mother born

         17  in Newport News, Virginia.  The grandson of Alfred

         18  E. Mabry and Lucinda Dickens both born in Halifax

         19  County, North Carolina.  I am the great- grandson of

         20  the sharecroppers, Walter Dickins and Betty Dickins

         21  born both in Halifax County.  I am also the great-

         22  great- grandson of the African captive, some of you

         23  called him slave, Jordan Dickins and his wife, Bika

         24  Dickins.

         25                 I have in front of me the Census
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          2  records of my great- great- grandfather Jordan

          3  Dickins, and in 1870, and I also have the Census

          4  records of them in 1880, and I also have the 1860

          5  Census records, where unfortunately the name stops,

          6  and they become name of slave owners, a number of

          7  slaves, their age, their sex and their color, but no

          8  names.  And I would like to submit that to the

          9  Council.

         10                 I would also like to submit to the

         11  Council two books for their library, Criminalizing A

         12  Race by Dr. Shashee McIntyre, who has passed away.

         13  And especially to be loaned to Peter Vallone's son,

         14  Junior, The Hidden History of New York, make sure

         15  that you submit that to him.

         16                 I am here today to ask the Council to

         17  add to their proclamation, or amend it, that:

         18                 1.  Slavery, the atrocities, the

         19  discriminative laws and the disproportional prison

         20  population of African- Americans in New York City is

         21  a crime against humanity.

         22                 2.  The human rights of African-

         23  Americans deserve special protection under the law,

         24  because this ethnicity in New York City has been

         25  disenfranchised more than any other group in New
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          2  York City under the law.  This was done because of

          3  the need for labor, the racial differences that we

          4  have, and the concept of the African being a

          5  heathen, a non- Christian.

          6                 All those three things coupled

          7  together created a system of debasement that we

          8  encounter today.

          9                 3.  New York City will seek to repair

         10  the African American population after generations of

         11  these atrocities exacted on us in slavery and out of

         12  slavery through a process of reparations.  Where

         13  reparation begins with:

         14                 1.  The admittance that they were a

         15  crime against humanity.  And that there are

         16  institutions, including the state, the city and the

         17  church, which are guilty in passing secular and

         18  religious doctrine that created this system of

         19  debasement.

         20                 Where also there are corporations and

         21  family- owned businesses that directly profited from

         22  the debasement of Africans.

         23                 And where they are descendants of

         24  people who profited from slavery.

         25                 2.  The punishment of any of these
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          2  institutions, if possible.

          3                 3.  The repair in capital expense of

          4  the conditions of Africans.

          5                 4.  The education, and finally, of

          6  New York to reflect that New York owes a debt to the

          7  African.

          8                 5.  Rename historical sites names,

          9  rename historical sites named after slave holders.

         10                 And I support this claim with the two

         11  books that I said, but I want to read something from

         12  one of the books, if I can?

         13                 Unfortunately, a lot of our kids or

         14  younger people attend these schools, and many of

         15  these schools, unfortunately, are named after slave

         16  owners.  And we, and so again, the slave masters

         17  inherit us because we carry these names in these

         18  colleges and these universities.  So I just want to

         19  read a couple of them, if I can?             Of

         20  course I want to start with George Washington. Many

         21  people know that George Washington was a slaver, but

         22  many people do not know, and I will get to him, that

         23  George Washington's particular - -  "George

         24  Washington, American Father, George Washington was

         25  one of the largest slave owners in American history,
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          2  him.  His home in the State of Virginia, which I was

          3  born in, was a prime breeder of Black people for the

          4  Domestic Slave Trade.  And at one point, the State

          5  exported 6,000 Black people annually, their biggest

          6  cash crop.  In 1786, Washington held 216 Black

          7  Africans, 116 workers, 92 children, and 8 infirmed.

          8  This unusually high number of children, who were

          9  unable to work the plantation indicates that him,

         10  George Washington, was heavily involved in the

         11  breeding of Black people for the Slave Trade and

         12  gave them names such as Sally Bath Breechie."

         13                 I also want to talk about John Adams.

         14    "When John Ottis declared in 1761 that slavery

         15  violates inalienable rights of man, and that all men

         16  should be free.  Harvard educated John Adams

         17  shuddered as a doctrine he taught, it was a doctrine

         18  that held terror in it.  Wrote in Adams' biographer

         19  in 1777.  Adams teamed with patriotic leader James

         20  Warren in opposition to the abolition bill before

         21  the Massachusetts House, leased and antagonized the

         22  Southern allies."

         23                 The Whit Clinton High School, which

         24  many Black and Brown youngsters go to.  "Clinton has

         25  several political offices including US Senator,

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            138

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  Mayor of New York City and Governor. However, he

          3  worked for his uncle, Governor George Clinton who

          4  owned 8 African slaves."

          5                 Benjamin Franklin High School, "born

          6  Ben Franklin. He says, why increase the sons of

          7  Africa by planting them in America?"

          8                 Samuel Goppers High School, "Goppers

          9  AFL refused admittance of Blacks, because he is the

         10  union person, refused admittance of Blacks and

         11  successfully threw thousands out of work. Goppers

         12  promoted and encouraged this racial terrorism by his

         13  white union and actually blamed Blacks for being

         14  strike breakers, whom he threatened with a race

         15  hatred for worse."

         16                 And maybe one more that I will read.

         17  There are many on the list, but I am just going to

         18  have to pick one that I am going to read.  So,

         19  Patrick Henry, "Give me liberty or give me death.

         20  All 100 of Patrick Henry Black African slaves

         21  desired the same, but could never claim their

         22  freedom in their lifetime."

         23                 So my suggestion is that also the

         24  City Council, since the City Council now represents

         25  people of color, Black, Brown, as well as white, as
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          2  well as Asian, begin renaming the City in the

          3  context of the people that currently live in the

          4  City.  And spaces like this, these are antique,

          5  these are ancient.  This wall painting, this picture

          6  of George Washington, this person behind me, this

          7  does not reflect the America that America should be,

          8  otherwise, we would always be at war, we would

          9  always be suffering. And if we do not understand

         10  these concepts we are always going to be in jeopardy

         11  of the nation.

         12                 Thank you very much.

         13                 MS. DAVIS:  May I say one other thing

         14  pertaining to the miseducation of our children.  And

         15  this does have to do partially with reparations, but

         16  I would suggest that our Mayor elect Adelaide

         17  Sanford to head the Education System because she

         18  knows what to do.  So I just wanted to put that in

         19  there.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Good idea.

         21  Well we have ended our list of witnesses for this

         22  first hearing on reparations, it is not the last

         23  hearing that we plan on having.  What we have tried

         24  to do, is look at the question of reparations from

         25  the perspective of a Commission, the perspective of
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          2  setting up a body of experts to look at the

          3  questions related to reparations and provide the

          4  recommendations that would answer some of those

          5  questions.  We looked at it from a national level in

          6  terms of the legislation provided by Congressman

          7  Conyers, the State level, in terms of Assemblyman

          8  Green, and of course, in terms of the Queen Mother

          9  Moore Resolution that was prepared by our colleague,

         10  Councilman Charles Barron, along with other pieces

         11  of legislation that he presented that put the

         12  question of reparations in another context,

         13  particularly in terms of litigation and also in

         14  terms of acknowledging certain dates that were

         15  important, landmarks in terms of the reparations

         16  movement.

         17                 Our intention is to continue to look

         18  at the question of reparations, develop a Commission

         19  that ultimately will assume the responsibility for

         20  answering the questions that the whole movement

         21  around reparations raises.

         22                 I want to thank each and every one of

         23  you for joining us in this very historic Juneteenth

         24  commemoration in which we remembered that day in

         25  terms of the reparations movement that will help
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          2  address some of the wrongs of the past.

          3                 Thank you very much, and I look

          4  forward to seeing you again when we continue to have

          5  hearings on reparations and other matters that are

          6  very important to you and other New Yorkers. Thank

          7  you.

          8                 (Hearing adjourned at 5:30 p.m.)

          9                 (The following testimony was read

         10  into the record.)

         11

         12  Testimony of:

         13  Jahahara Amen- Ra Alkebulan- Ma'at

         14  Co- Chair

         15  National Coalition of Blacks for Reparation in

         16  America

         17

         18                 Chairmen Bill Perkins, Councilman

         19  Barron, and Members of the Council and the

         20  Government Operations Committee:

         21                 May our magnificent Creator, and

         22  beloved Ancestors find you and your families in the

         23  best of spirit and health.

         24                 I bring you warm greetings from the

         25  members of our National Coalition of Blacks for
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          2  Reparations in America (N'COBRA), which has its

          3  national office in Washington, D.C.  Unfortunately,

          4  I will not be able to stay for the entire hearing.

          5  I will be traveling to Detroit in preparation for

          6  N'COBRA's 13th Annual Reparations Convention.

          7  Please accept this written statement in my physical

          8  absence.  However, leaders of our local N'COBRA New

          9  York City Chapter will be present today and

         10  testifying.

         11                 This is truly an historic moment.  On

         12  a day (Juneteenth) when we recall the tragedy

         13  insult, and crime that many of our African Ancestors

         14  received documentation that the United States

         15  government had issued a proclamation to release from

         16  chattel enslavement  here in the United States

         17  nearly two and a half years earlier; the Council is

         18  considering an important process in helping to right

         19  some of those wrongs.  This is a glorious day.  At a

         20  time when we have once again paid special tribute

         21  for the many contributions of our beloved Queen

         22  Mother Audley Moore (who made her transition from

         23  this life a little over five years ago); the Council

         24  list considering Reparations legislation drafted in

         25  her honor.  Yes, this is an incredible period that
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          2  we are living in. Just last year, the people and

          3  governments of the earth said in a united voice (at

          4  the United Nations' World Conference Against Racism)

          5  that the Trans- Atlantic enslavement of African

          6  people was a crime against humanity, and that

          7  Reparations were due; you are urging your colleagues

          8  in the Council to establish and fund a Commission to

          9  hold hearings, conduct research and recommend

         10  compensation to the New African Descendent Community

         11  of New York for the debt owed for the enslavement of

         12  their African Ancestors during the colonial and

         13  post- colonial periods in New Amsterdam/New York

         14  City.

         15                 Last year, in a show of support for

         16  his vision and leadership, local N'COBRA members

         17  marched with then- candidate Barron from the African

         18  Burial Grounds to City Hall and delivered the Queen

         19  Mother Moore resolution to former Speaker Peter

         20  Vallone. Today, I, and our members and supporters

         21  from across the U.S. And the African Diaspora

         22  encourage the unanimous adoption of Resolution 41,

         23  by the Committee and the Council.  The adoption and

         24  implementation of this critical legislation will go

         25  a long way towards providing renewed understanding

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            144

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  of past wrongs, overdue justice, and very necessary

          3  compensation and remedies to the descendants of

          4  enslavement Africans here in New York.  Only then

          5  can we begin a true healing of our populus.

          6                 With your positive action, this will,

          7  indeed, be a blessed day.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 Most sincerely,

         10                 Jahahara Amen- Ra Alkebulan- Ma'at

         11

         12

         13  Testimony of:

         14  Dr. Delois Blakely

         15  Community Mayor of Harlem, USA

         16

         17                 Africans in the USA and in the

         18  Diaspora are displaced people.  More than 50 million

         19  people of color live in North America, without a

         20  country, as guests of Native Americans. From 1619 to

         21  1861, more than 145 million Africans were sold into

         22  slavery and over 35 million were killed by slave

         23  traders, the greatest holocaust our world has ever

         24  known.  The black corpus and psyche has been

         25  decimated by murder and by enslavement as inferior
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          2  humans.

          3                 I expect we will be made whole again.

          4                 In the Spirit of the late Queen

          5  Mother Audley Moore who fought 79 years for

          6  repatriation, reparations, and redress, I am asking

          7  all within my reach to assist me in forging a

          8  strategic partnership among all Africans and

          9  Africans in the Diaspora and white people worldwide.

         10                 Specifically, I need all people of

         11  African descent to forgive white people,

         12  unconditionally.  Forgiveness is largely a matter of

         13  developing a new attitude.  Forgiveness varies from

         14  situation to situation, is complex, messy, and

         15  emotional.  But divine forgiveness often follows

         16  human forgiveness and is profoundly empowering.

         17                 I need white people, all of whom

         18  benefit from skin color privileges, to apologize.

         19  Apology seems to require that people acknowledge the

         20  problem that triggered the abuse in the first place.

         21    Most people believe apology involves actually

         22  telling someone you are sorry.  Asking for

         23  forgiveness goes hand in hand with shedding feelings

         24  of guilt, depression, sadness, and loneliness.

         25                 Oppressive economic policies, social
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          2  injustice and violence are crimes against humanity.

          3  The healthy and wealthy are silent and unknowing

          4  conspirators in blocking the eradication of poverty

          5  and the engineering of justice and peace for people

          6  of color worldwide.

          7                 I promote reparations that will: (1)

          8  Initiate sustainable spiritual, physical, social,

          9  and economic development among whites and African

         10  descendants in the US and Africa; (2) Cancel all

         11  African debt, and (3) Pay off the US debt to the

         12  United Nations.

         13                 As the Queen Mother of All African

         14  Peoples in North America, I advocate for the African

         15  Peoples who are stranded as inferior beings in our

         16  land.  I wish us all God' Speed in resolving this

         17  most harmful crisis of skin color discrimination.

         18

         19  Testimony of:

         20  Howard Dodson

         21  Director

         22  Schomburg Center for Research in Black Culture

         23

         24                 Good afternoon.  My name is Howard

         25  Dodson, and I am Director of The Schomburg Center
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          2  for Research in Black Culture.  I am pleased to

          3  appear before the Committee on Governmental

          4  Operations of the New York City Council to testify

          5  in support of the three resolutions on reparations

          6  that are the subject of today's hearing:

          7                 Reso. No. 41, urging the

          8  establishment of a Commission on Reparations.

          9                 Reso. No. 92, declaring March 21,

         10  2002 Reparations Awareness Day, and;

         11                 Reso. No. 217, calling on the City

         12  Council to support the plaintiffs in the class

         13  action suit against corporations that participated

         14  in and directly profited from the institution of

         15  slavery.

         16                 I am an historian by training, and

         17  the major focus of my doctoral studies and much of

         18  my professional research interest has been in the

         19  comparative history of slavery and the slave trade

         20  and the development of African peoples in the

         21  Americas. For the past eight years, I have served as

         22  a member of the Scientific and Technical Committee

         23  of the UNESCO Slave Trade Project, and international

         24  effort involving scholars, archivists, information

         25  specialists, historic preservationists and the
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          2  general public throughout the Atlantic world

          3  (Europe, Africa and the Americas) in a series of

          4  research initiatives, exhibitions, conferences and

          5  public programs to document the centrality of

          6  slavery and the slave trade in the making of the

          7  modern world. Over the course of the past eight

          8  years, literally hundreds of events and activities

          9  have been organized and conducted under the rubric

         10  of the Slave Route Project.  Several have taken

         11  place here in New York City including an

         12  international Slave Route Conference co- sponsored

         13  by New York University's Africana Studies Program

         14  and the Schomburg Center and an international

         15  African Diaspora Studies Conference co- sponsored by

         16  the Association for the Study of the World Wide

         17  African Diaspora and the Schomburg Center.  Each of

         18  these international gatherings attracted over 125

         19  scholars and more than 500 participants.  The papers

         20  presented at these conferences provide compelling

         21  evidence of the nature and character of slavery and

         22  the slave trade and their impacts on African peoples

         23  in Africa and the Americas.  They also documented

         24  the degree to which European and American (in the

         25  hemispheric sense of the term) development derived
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          2  from the profits of the slave trade and slavery and

          3  the exploitation of the labor of African peoples.

          4                 I recently curated an exhibition on

          5  the slave trade and slavery at the Schomburg Center,

          6  entitled Lest We Forget: The Triumph Over Slavery,

          7  the exhibition, which was based primarily on primary

          8  resource materials drawn from the collections of the

          9  Schomburg Center, provided eloquent testimony of the

         10  nature and scope of these dehumanizing enterprises

         11  including the loss of lives, opportunities and basic

         12  human rights they entailed.  It was also co-

         13  sponsored by the UNESCO Slave Route Project.  Taken

         14  together, these two conferences and the exhibit

         15  alone provide the basis for justifying the

         16  development of an expansive reparations program to

         17  redress the grievances of the enslaved Africans who

         18  suffered these indignities.

         19                 Reso. No. 41 calls for the

         20  establishment of the Queen Mother Moore Reparations

         21  Commission to determine the debt owed African

         22  peoples for their enslavement during the colonial

         23  and post- colonial periods in New York City.  I

         24  fully endorse this resolution.

         25                 New York enjoys a reputation as one
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          2  of the liberal refuges from slavery during the

          3  decades leading up to the Civil War.  It was also

          4  one of the centers of the national abolitionist

          5  movement from the 1830s to the 1860s.  What is not

          6  generally recognized is that New York was, itself, a

          7  slavery colony and state for 200 years.  Indeed, its

          8  history as a slavery colony and state is longer than

          9  its history as a free state (177 years).  Of equal

         10  significance, from the founding of the Republic

         11  through the years leading up to the Civil War, New

         12  York, as the financial and commercial capital of the

         13  United States, controlled the sale of the slave-

         14  produced goods that were sold abroad.  Slave- grown

         15  cotton from the American South was shipped to New

         16  York City and from there sold to Europe.  Finally,

         17  even though the slave trade was abolished in the

         18  United States in 1807, New York continued to

         19  function as a hub of the illegal slave trade to Cuba

         20  and Brazil well into the 1860s.  It should come as

         21  no surprise then, given New York's economic

         22  dependence on slavery and the slave trade, that when

         23  South Carolina seceded from the Union in 1861, New

         24  York City Mayor Fernando Wood proposed that New York

         25  City also secede and join the Confederacy.
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          2  Fortunately, your predecessors, the New York City

          3  Council of 1861, voted down this proposition.  A

          4  Commissioner to study slavery and the slave trade in

          5  New York City to determine the debt owed African

          6  peoples as a consequence of their enslavement and

          7  exploitation is certainly warranted.

          8                 Reso. No. 217 calls upon the New York

          9  City council to declare its support of the class

         10  action suit brought by Deadria Farmer- Paellmann,

         11  et. Al. To secure reparations from corporations that

         12  profited from slavery and the slave trade.  I

         13  support this resolution and hope the Council will

         14  lend its fullest support to it.

         15                 Reso. No. 92 declared March 21, 2002

         16   "Reparations Awareness Day."  I trust this will

         17  become an annual day of recognition in New York City

         18  and that appropriate commemorative events, perhaps

         19  organized and/or supported by the Queen Mother Moore

         20  Commission, will take place every year to heightened

         21  public knowledge of and interest in this major

         22  public policy issue.

         23                 I thank you for this opportunity to

         24  contribute to the ongoing effort to bring justice

         25  and reconciliation to the enslaved Africans who were

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            152

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  victimized by slavery and the slave trade and their

          3  descendants who are being victimized by the

          4  consequences of slavery in their every day lives.

          5  And happy Juneteenth!

          6                 (Hearing concluded at 5:30 p.m.)
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          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, PAT WTULICH, a Notary Public in

         10  and for the State of New York, do hereby certify

         11  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         12  of the within proceeding.

         13                 I further certify that I am not

         14  related to any of the parties to this action by

         15  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         16  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         17                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         18  set my hand this 19th day of June 2002.

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

                                   ---------------------

         24                          PAT WTULICH
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          3
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          7

          8

          9            I, PAT WTULICH, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.
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         22                 -----------------------

                              PAT WTULICH
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